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1.  GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this Listing Statement, including in the summary hereof. 
Terms and abbreviations used in the financial statements of the Issuer and in the Schedules to this Listing 
Statement are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except 
where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and 
vice versa and words importing any gender include all genders. All dollar amounts herein are in Canadian 
dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

“$” means Canadian dollars. 

“Affiliate”  has the meaning set out in the Exchange Policy. 

“Associate” means, when used to indicate a relationship with a person or company: 

(a) an issuer of which the person or company beneficially owns or 
controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities entitling him to more than 
10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding securities of the issuer; 

(b) any partner of the person or company; 

(c) any trust or estate in which the person or company has a 
substantial beneficial interest or in respect of which a person or company 
serves as trustee or in a similar capacity; or 

(d) in the case of a person, a relative of that person, including: 
 
                           (i)       that person’s spouse or child, or 

                           (ii)      any relative of the person or of his spouse who has                    
the same residence as that person; 

“Auditor” the Issuer’s auditor, Charlton & Company. 

“Author” Dr. Mathias Westphal, P.Geo. of White North West Consulting, the 
Qualified Person, who prepared the Technical Report. 

“BCBCA” means the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, as amended. 

“Board” the board of directors of the Issuer. 

“Business Day” any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banking 
institutions in Vancouver, British Columbia are authorized or obligated to 
close. 
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“CEO” means each individual who served as Chief Executive Officer of the 
Issuer or acted in a similar capacity during the most recently completed 
financial year. 

“CFO” means each individual who served as Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer 
or acted in a similar capacity during the most recently completed financial 
year. 

“Charitable 
Options” 

means the  options to purchase an aggregate of 35,000 Shares, which was 
granted to Canadian Cancer Society, an Eligible Charitable Organization, 
at a price of $0.20 per Share and which options may be exercised for a 
period of 10 years from the date of grant, being April 30, 2022. 

“Charity” means  the  Canadian  Cancer  Society  -  BC  &  Yukon  Division,  
Charity Registration No. 11882 9803 RR0002, an Eligible Charitable 
Organization 

“Closing” means the closing of the Qualifying Transaction. 

“Closing Date” the date of Closing designated by the Issuer and the Optionor, which is 
prior to the date the Final Exchange Bulletin is issued by the TSXV. 

“Commissions” the British Columbia Securities Commission and the Alberta Securities 
Commission, collectively. 

“company” unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated 
association or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association 
or other entity other than an individual. 

“Completion of 
the Qualifying 
Transaction” 

means August 6, 2014, the date the Final Exchange Bulletin was issued by 
the TSXV. 

“Control Person” means any person or company that holds or is one of a combination of 
persons or companies that holds a sufficient number of any of the 
securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of that issuer, 
or that holds more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of an 
issuer except where there is evidence showing that the holder of those 
securities does not materially affect the control of the issuer. 
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“CPC” means a corporation: 

(a) that has been incorporated or organized in a jurisdiction in    
Canada; 

(b) that has filed and obtained a receipt for a preliminary CPC 
prospectus with the CPC Policy; and 

(c) in regard to which the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction 
has not yet occurred. 

 

“CPC Policy” TSXV Policy 2.4 Capital Pool Companies in the TSXV Corporate 
Finance Manual. 

“Escrow Agent” means Computershare Investor Services Inc.  

“Escrow 
Agreement” 

means the escrow agreement, dated October 27, 2011 entered into 
between the Issuer, Computershare Investor Services Inc. and other 
certain shareholders of the Issuer. 

“Escrow 
Securities” 

means the Issuer Shares to be deposited into escrow in accordance with 
the terms of the Escrow Agreement.  

“Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE). 

“Exchange 
Policy” 

means the rules, the policies, the Universal Market Integrity Rules, and 
any decision of the Exchange, as amended from time to time. 

“Final Exchange 
Bulletin” 

means the TSXV Bulletin issued following the completion of the 
Qualifying Transaction and the submission of all required documentation, 
which evidences the final TSXV acceptance of the Qualifying 
Transaction, dated August 6, 2014. 

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards. 

“Incentive Stock 
Options” 

means the options to purchase Shares granted to the directors and officers 
of the Issuer on April 30, 2012, being the date on which the Shares were 
first listed on the TSXV, and which options may be exercised at a price of 
$0.20 per Share for a period of five years beginning on such a date, being 
April 30, 2017. 
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“Insider” if used in relation to a company, means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of a company; 

(b) a director or senior officer of a company that is an Insider 
or subsidiary of a company; 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or 
indirectly, voting shares carrying more than 10% of the 
voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of a 
company; or 

               (d) a company itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“IPO” means the initial public offering of the Issuer completed on April 30, 
2012. 

“IPO Agency 
Agreement” 

means the agency agreement dated October 27, 2011 as amended January 
2012 between the Issuer and the IPO Agent. 

“IPO Agent” means Canaccord Genuity Corp., the agent which assisted the Issuer with 
respect to the sale of Shares in the IPO pursuant to the terms of the IPO 
Agency Agreement. 

“IPO Agent 
Warrants” 

means the  non-transferable options granted to the IPO Agent pursuant 
to the IPO Agency Agreement to purchase Shares equal to 10% of the 
aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to the IPO, being 315,800 
Shares, at a price of $0.20 per Share and which expired unexercised on 
April 30, 2014. 

“Issuer” means BlackEagle Development Corp. (formerly Symbio Capital Corp.) 

“Issuer Shares” common shares without par value in the capital of the Issuer 
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“Named 
Executive 
Officer” or 
“NEO” 

means each of the following individuals: 

(a) the CEO; 

(b)        the CFO; 

(c)        each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, or 
the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar 
capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year whose total compensation was, individually, 
more than $150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6) 
of Form 51-102F6 Statement of Executive Compensation, for that 
financial year; and 

(d)        each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for 
the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the 
company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year 

 

“Listing 
Statement” 

means this listing statement dated September 21, 2015, together with all 
Schedules attached hereto. 

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral 
Projects, as amended from time to time. 

“Non-Arm’s 
Length Party” 

in relation to a company, a promoter, officer, director, other Insider or 
Control Person of that company and any Associates or Affiliates of any of 
such Persons, and in relation to an individual, means any Associate of the 
individual or any company of which the individual is a promoter, officer, 
director, Insider or Control Person. 

“NSR Royalty” A 2% net smelter return royalty payable to the Vendors with respect to the 
Property. 

“Option” An option granted to the Issuer by the Optionor pursuant to the Option 
Agreement wherein the Issuer may acquire the beneficial and legal 
interest to 70% of Property, subject to the NSR Royalty. 

“Option 
Agreement” 

An option agreement among the Issuer, the Optionor, and the Vendors 
dated for reference April 8, 2014, as amended and restated April 25, 2014 
and June 26, 2014, pursuant to which the Optionor granted the Option to 
the Issuer. 

“Optionor” Tajiri Resources Corp., a public company listed on the TSXV. 
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“Option Period” the period from the date of the Option Agreement up to and including the 
earlier of the date of the exercise of the Option and the date of termination 
of the Option. 

“Person” means a company or individual. 

“Principal” 
(a)        a Person who acted as a Promoter of the Issuer within two years or 
their respective Associates or Affiliates, before the IPO prospectus or 
Final Exchange Bulletin; 

(b)        a director or senior officer of the Issuer or any of its material 
operating subsidiaries at the time of the IPO prospectus or Final Exchange 
Bulletin; 

(c)        a “20% holder” – a Person that holds securities carrying more than 
20% of the voting rights attached to the Issuer’s outstanding securities 
immediately   before   and   immediately   after   the   Issuer’s   IPO   or 
immediately after the Final Exchange Bulletin for non IPO transactions; 

(d)        a “10% holder” – a Person that: 

(i)        holds securities carrying more than 10% of the voting 
rights attached  to  the  Issuer’s outstanding  securities  
immediately before and immediately after the Issuer's IPO or 
immediately after the Final Exchange Bulletin for non IPO 
transactions; and 

(ii)       has elected or appointed, or has the right to elect or 
appoint, one or more directors or senior officers of the Issuer or 
any of its material operating subsidiaries. 

In calculating these percentages, include securities that may be issued to 
the holder under outstanding convertible securities in both the holder’s 
securities and the total securities outstanding. 
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A company, trust, partnership or other entity more than 50% held by one 
or more Principals will be treated as a Principal.  (In calculating this 
percentage, include securities of the entity that may be issued to the 
Principals under outstanding convertible securities in both the Principals’ 
securities of the entity and the total securities of the entity outstanding.) 
Any securities of the Issuer that this entity holds will be subject to escrow 
requirements. 

A Principal’s spouse and their relatives that live at the same address as the 
Principal will  also  be  treated  as  Principals  and  any  securities  of  the 
Issuer they hold will be subject to escrow requirements. 

“Principal 
Regulator” 

the British Columbia Securities Commission. 

“Principal 
Securityholder” 

means a Person who beneficially owns, or controls, or directs, directly or 
indirectly, voting securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights 
attached to any class of voting securities of the Issuer. 

“Promoter” has the meaning specified in section 1(1) of the Securities Act (British 
Columbia) 

“Property” A mineral property comprised of 40 mineral claims covering 
approximately 14,276.56 hectares of land located within the Omineca 
Mining District of British Columbia and known as the OGK property. 

“Public Float” means Issuer Shares held by Public Shareholders and not subject to Resale 
Restrictions. 

“Public 
Shareholders” 

means a shareholder of the Issuer other than a Related Person, an 
employee of a Related Person of a CSE issuer or any person or group of 
persons acting jointly or in concert holding: (a) more than 5% of the 
issued and outstanding securities, or (b) securities convertible or 
exchangeable into the listed equity security and would, on conversion or 
exchange, hold more than 5% of the issued and outstanding securities. 

“Qualified 
Person” 

has the meaning given to it in NI 43-101 
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“Qualifying 
Transaction” 

A transaction which, if and when accepted by the TSXV and completed in 
accordance with the policies of the TSXV, is a transaction whereby a 
capital pool company acquires, for consideration other than cash, by way 
of purchase, amalgamation, merger or arrangement with another company 
or by other means, one or more businesses which, when purchased, 
optioned or otherwise acquired by the capital pool company, together with 
any other concurrent transactions, would result in the capital pool 
company meeting the minimum listing requirements of the TSXV. 

“Related Party 
Transaction” 

has the meaning ascribed to that term under Multi-lateral Instrument 61-
101, and includes a related party transaction that is determined by the 
Exchange, to be a Related Party Transaction. The Exchange may deem a 
transaction to be a Related Party Transaction where the transaction 
involves non-arms length parties, or other circumstances exist which may 
compromise the independence of the Issuer with respect to the transaction. 

“Related Person” has the meaning set out in the Exchange Policy.  

“Resale 
Restrictions” 

means restrictions on the ability to trade securities, including restrictions 
imposed under applicable Securities Laws such as hold periods and notice 
requirements, and any restrictions under applicable escrow or pooling 
agreements. 

“Securities 
Laws” 

means the Securities Act (British Columbia) or equivalent legislation in 
those provinces, states, and countries which have or assume jurisdiction 
over the affairs of the Issuer and any party to the Qualifying Transaction, 
and the applicable rules, regulations, rulings, orders, instruments and 
forms made or promulgated under such laws, as well as the rules, 
regulations, by-laws and policies of the Exchange. 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval. 

“Stock Option 
Plan” 

means the incentive stock option plan of the Issuer.  

“Technical 
Report” 

means a report prepared by Dr. Mathias Westphal, P.Geo. of White North 
West Consulting. in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects, dated May 28, 2014 and 
entitled “Technical Report on the OGK Property, Osilinka River, Central 
British Columbia, Canada” . 

“Transfer Agent” means the Issuer’s transfer agent and registrar, Computershare Investor 
Services Inc.  
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“TSXV” means the TSX Venture Exchange. 

“US$” means United States dollars. 

“Vendors” Donald Kenneth Bragg, Peter Fox and Barry Price each of whom 
beneficially own 33 1/3 % of the Property. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

Except for statements of historical fact, this Listing Statement contains certain forward-looking statements 
and forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable securities law. Such forward-looking 
statements and information include, but are not limited to, statements or information with respect to: the 
completion of the Qualifying Transaction; the exploration and development of the Issuer’s mineral 
properties; the Issuer's future business and strategies; requirements for additional capital and future 
financing; estimation of mineral resources; and estimated future working capital, funds available, and uses 
of funds, and future capital expenditures, exploration expenditures and other expense for specific 
operations. Forward-looking information also includes information contained in pro forma financial 
statements. 

 
Forward-looking information is frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, “project”; “intend”, 
“believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words, or statements that certain events or conditions 
“may” or “will” occur. With respect to forward-looking statements and information contained herein, we 
have made numerous assumptions including, among other things, our ability to satisfy the conditions in 
accordance with the Option Agreement and the assumptions made in connection with the preparation of 
the Issuer's pro forma financial statements. Although our management believes that the assumptions made 
and the expectations represented by such statement or information are reasonable, there can be no 
assurance that a forward-looking statement or information referenced herein will prove to be accurate. 
Forward-looking statements are based on the opinions and estimates of management at the date the 
statements are made, and are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties and other factors that could 
cause actual events or results to differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking 
statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking 
statements include market prices for metals, the conclusions of detailed feasibility and technical analyses, 
lower than expected grades and quantities of mineralization and resources, mining rates and recovery 
rates and the lack of availability of necessary capital, which may not be available to the Issuer on terms 
acceptable to it or at all, changes in and the effect of government policies with respect to mineral 
exploration and exploitation, the ability to obtain required permits, potential environmental issues and 
liabilities associated with exploration and development and mining activities, delays in exploration and 
development projects and the possibility of adverse developments in the financial markets generally. The 
Issuer will also be subject to the specific risks inherent in the mining business as well as general economic 
and business conditions. The Issuer undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking statements and 
information if circumstances or management's estimates should change except as required by law. The 
reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements and information. More 
detailed  information about  potential factors  that  could  affect financial results is included in the 
documents that may be filed from time to time with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities by the 
Issuer. 

 
For a more detailed discussion of certain of these risk factors see Section 17 “Risk Factors”. 
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2.  CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

The full corporate name of the Issuer is “Blackeagle Development Corp.” The Issuer’s head office is located 
at 2922 Mt. Seymour Parkway, North Vancouver, B.C., V7H 1E9 and its registered office is located at Suite 
1780, 400 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3A6. The Issuer does not have any subsidiaries. 
 
The Issuer was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on February 14, 2011. 

3.  GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

3.1. History 

The Issuer was initially formed as “Symbio Capital Corp.”, which was a “capital pool company” (CPC) as 
that term is defined by the policies of the TSXV. The principal business of the Issuer at the CPC stage was to 
identify and evaluate opportunities for the qualifying transaction (the “Qualifying Transaction”, as more 
particularly described below) of an interest in assets or businesses and once identified and evaluated, to 
negotiate a transaction or participation subject to receipt of shareholder approval and acceptance by the 
TSXV. Prior to the completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the Issuer did not have a business, business 
operations or any material assets other than seed capital.  

On April 30, 2012, the Issuer closed its initial public offering (IPO) to sell 3,158,000 Shares at a price of 
$0.20 per Share for gross proceeds of $631,600. The IPO Agent received a commission of $63,160, an 
administrative fee of $10,000 and the IPO Agent’s legal fees. The IPO Agent was also granted non-
transferable option (“Agent’s Warrants”) to purchase 315,800 Shares at an exercise price of $0.20 per Share 
with an expiry date of April 30, 2014. The Agent’s Warrants have since expired and none of them were 
exercised. The Shares were listed on the TSXV under the symbol “SYB.P” as a CPC on April 30, 2012. 

On April 8, 2014, the Issuer entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) dated for reference 
April 8, 2014 and amended and restated as at April 22, 2014 and June 26, 2014 with Tajiri Resources Corp. 
(the “Optionor”) and the original property vendors (the “Vendors”), both arm’s length to the Issuer, with the 
purpose of completing the Qualifying Transaction. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Optionor granted 
the Issuer an option (the “Option”) to acquire a 70% interest in and to certain mineral claims comprising 
property for exploration of copper and gold mineralization known as the OGK property (the “Property”) 
totalling approximately 13,878 hectares located within the Omineca Mining District of British Columbia and 
approximately 300 kilometres northwest of Prince George, B.C.  
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3.2. Option Agreement 

Under the terms of the Option Agreement, the Optionor agreed to grant to the Issuer the Option to acquire a 
70% of legal and beneficial interest in the Property, subject to a 2% net smelter return royalty (the “NSR 
Royalty”).  

To keep the Option in good standing and to exercise the Option, thereby earning a 70% interest in and to the 
Property, subject to the NSR Royalty in favour of the Vendors, the Issuer was required to arrange for the 
payment and preparation of a technical report on the Property in accordance with NI 43-101 and also (a) the 
aggregate payment of the sum of CDN$100,000; (b) the expenditure by the Issuer of a total of 
CDN$1,350,000 in exploration, development and mining work on the Property; and (c) the issuance of 
1,000,000 Shares, all as set out below: 

(i) pay a $25,000 deposit to the Optionor upon execution of the Option Agreement, 

(ii)  issue 60,000 Shares to the Optionor and issue 140,000 Shares to the Vendors within 5 business days 
after the issuance the Final Exchange Bulletin approving the Qualifying Transaction; 

(iii)  incur $250,000 of exploration expenditures on the Property on or before the first anniversary of the 
Final Exchange Bulletin approving the Qualifying Transaction; 

(iv)  pay $35,000 to the Optionor, issue 90,000 Shares to the Optionor and issue 210,000 Shares to the 
Vendors, and incur $350,000 of exploration expenditures on the Property, all of which must be 
completed on or before the second anniversary of the Final Exchange Bulletin; and 

(v)  pay $15,000 to the Optionor and pay $25,000 to the Vendors, issue 150,000 Shares to the Optionor 
and issue 350,000 Shares to the Vendors, and incur $750,000 of exploration expenditures on the 
Property, all of which must be completed on or before the third anniversary of the Final Exchange 
Bulletin. 

All Shares issued to the Optionor will be subject to a hold period expiring on the date that is four months and 
one day after the distribution date. A finder’s fee of $4,000 and 400,000 common shares at a deemed price of 
$0.05 per share were paid to Ramtag Resources Ltd. (owned by Ronald Fisher) in connection with the 
Qualifying Transaction. 

During the Option Period, the Issuer will have the exclusive right to manage and operate all work programs 
carried out on the Property in its sole discretion and will also be responsible for maintaining the Property in 
good standing. The Optionor and the Vendors will have the right to access the Property and all data, reports 
and other information generated by the Issuer with respect to the Property during the Option Period. 

The Issuer must provide written notice of its intent to exercise the Option to the Optionor. Upon the exercise 
of the Option, the Issuer will be deemed to be have earned the interest in the Property as described above, 
subject to the NSR Royalty, which interest will be transferred to the Issuer, free and clear of all 
encumbrances, until the registration of the transfer of such interest is completed. 
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The Property is presently under option by the Optionor from the Vendors whereby the Vendors have granted 
the Optionor an option to earn a 100% legal and beneficial interest in and to the Property free and clear of all 
encumbrances except the NSR Royalty in favour of the Vendors. The Vendors are also a party to the Option 
Agreement and have acknowledged that in the event the Issuer completes the Option, the Optionor will have 
earned a 100% interest in the Property subject to the NSR Royalty and will be in a position to transfer the 
70% interest upon exercise of the Option. The Optionor has satisfied its obligation to issue a further 720,000 
common shares in its capital stock as presently constituted to the Vendors within 5 business days of the Issuer 
receiving conditional approval of its qualifying transaction and prior to the Issuer obtaining Final Exchange 
Bulletin. 

The Vendors have consented to the Optionor granting the Option to the Issuer and further consented to the 
assignment by the Optionor to the Issuer of the right to repurchase the NSR Royalty from the Vendors. Upon 
the exercise of the Option by the Issuer, the Optionor shall be deemed to have assigned to the Issuer the right 
to purchase the 2% NSR Royalty from the Vendors as follows: 

(a) at any time following the exercise of the Option the Issuer may purchase from the Vendors 1% of the 
2% NSR Royalty thereby reducing the NSR Royalty to 1%, upon giving the Vendors notice of 
exercise together with CDN$1,000,000; and 

(b)  upon the Property being placed into commercial production, the Issuer shall have the right to 
purchase from the Vendors the remaining 1% of the NSR Royalty thereby eliminating the NSR 
Royalty, upon giving the Vendors notice of exercise together with a further CDN$1,500,000 within 
12 months from the date the Property is placed into commercial production. 

3.3. Qualifying Transaction 

On August 6, 2014, the Issuer completed the Qualifying Transaction by completing the preparation of a 
technical report on the Property in accordance with NI 43-101 and satisfying items (i) and (ii) as described in 
Section 3.2 “Option Agreement” above. After completion of the Qualifying Transaction, and at the opening 
of the market on August 7, 2014, the Issuer graduated from being a capital pool company on the TSXV, and 
commenced trading on the TSXV under its new name “Blackeagle Development Corp.” as a Tier 2 mining 
issuer. 

4.  NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

Following the completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the Issuer became a natural resource company 
engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties, with its primary focus on the 
Property.  The Issuer is an exploration stage company with no producing properties and, consequently, no 
current operating income cash flow or revenues. It will not provide any products or services to third parties.  
There is no assurance that a commercially viable mineral deposit exists on the Property. 
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The Issuer intends to pursue the milestones and stated business objectives set out below. The Issuer 
anticipates it will generate sufficient cash flow from its financing activities to pay ongoing operating costs 
and intends to spend the total available funds as set out herein under the heading “Principal Use of Funds”. 

4.1. Technical Report 

The Issuer commissioned the technical report on the Property dated June 26, 2014, entitled “Technical 
Report: on the OGK Property, Osilinka River, Central British Columbia, Canada” (the “Technical Report”) 
in order to review the geology, mineralization and previous work and to make recommendations for further 
work to advance the project. The Technical Report was prepared in accordance with National Instrument 43-
101 (“NI 43-101”) by Dr. Mathias Westphal, P.Geo. of White North West Consulting, who is a “Qualified 
Person” as defined in that instrument and is independent of the Isuuer and the Optionor of the Property, Tajiri 
Resources Corp. 

The Issuer also filed on SEDAR an updated technical report dated March 11, 2015 entitled “Exploration 
Report on Soil Geochemistry Surveys and IP and Resistivity Surveys over the OGK Property Osilinka River, 
Germansen Landing Area, North Central Division, British Columbia” (the “2015 Technical Report”) 
authored by David G. Mark, P.Geo., of Geotronics Consulting Inc. David G. Mark, P.Geo., is a 
“QualifiedPperson” as defined  in NI 43-101 and is independent of the Issuer and the Optionor of the 
Property.  

The scientific and technical information contained in this Listing Statement relating to the oil and gas 
properties is supported by the Technical Report, which is subject to certain assumptions, qualifications, and 
procedures described therein. Reference should be made to the full text of the Technical Report on SEDAR. 
The Issuer incorporates by reference in this Listing Application the disclosure contained in the Technical 
Report. 

A copy of the Technical Report and the 2015 Technical Report can be reviewed under the Issuer’s profile on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The disclosure below is derived from the Technical Report and the 2015 
Technical Report. 

4.2. Property Description and Location 

The OGK property is a large claim block located in the Omineca Mining Division of north central British 
Columbia, Canada, approximately 300 kilometers northwest of the City of Prince George. The Property is 
within NTS mapsheets 094C and 093N, centered at Latitude 56 2’ 20” N and Longitude 125° 33’ 00” W; or 
UTM Zone 10, 341,000 East and 6,213,500 North and lies along Osilinka River and its tributary Haha Creek 
west of Cat Mountain and East of Omineca River. The southeastern property boundary straddles the Osilinka 
River at its confluence with Haha Creek. The northernmost extent of the property boundary extends north of 
Haha Creek and West of Osilinka River. The property consists of 40 contiguous mineral claims covering 
approximately 13,878 hectares of unsurveyed crown land. 
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Figure 1 – Project Location 

The claims are owned 100% by registered owner Donald K. Bragg. Beneficial interest is held in the claims, 
after all expenses have been paid to Donald K. Bragg, by the Vendors. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the 
Issuer has an option to earn a 70% interest in the Property subject to a 2% NSR in favour of the Vendors. 

The mineral tenures are for sub-surface rights only, there are no surface rights associated with the tenures. 
The claims lie on Crown land and there is no private ownership of the surface rights overlain by any part of 
the Property. 

In order to maintain the claims in good standing assessment work must be done and filed with the British 
Columbia Provincial Government. The requirements are as follows: 
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• $5 per hectare for each of the first and second anniversary years; 
• $10 per hectare for each of the third and fourth anniversary years; 
• $15 per hectare for each of the fifth and sixth anniversary years, and; 
• $20 per hectare for each subsequent anniversary year; 

An exhaustive review of permitting requirements and submission of applications to obtain any needed 
permits for work recommended in this report has not yet been completed. Any work plans that include 
disturbance of the subsurface need to be reviewed and approved and will involve consultation of the public 
and First Nations. 

The author of the Technical Report is unaware of any outstanding liabilities or issues regarding 
environmental, permitting, social impact or community impact. Mineral exploration at the OGK property has 
thus far been minimal and no significant surface disturbance has occurred. Any exploration work in British 
Columbia that does not result in ground disturbance can be completed without a work permit; programs that 
will cause disturbance by using heavy equipment, such as road construction, mechanical trenching, cutting 
timber drilling, or exposed electrodes used in ground IP surveys will require a notice of work permit. The 
exploration program recommended in this report will require a work permit to complete the IP survey, which 
also involves the cutting of timber on Crown Lands. 

The obligations of the Issuer, which must be met to earn its interest in the Property pursuant to the Option 
Agreement, are included above in the section entitled “The Option Agreement”. 

Prospecting at the Slide Zone in September 2012 identified disseminated copper mineralization (chalcopyrite) 
within monzonite of DCSC in conjunction with strong potassic alteration at the Slide Zone. Further, quartz-
sulphide veins, bearing chalcopyrite and pyrite, are seen with proximal disseminated sulphides in the Slide 
Zone and vein-hosted gold mineralization is recognized at both the Slide Zone and the Nova Zone have been 
identified. The property is at an early stage of exploration, there are no known mineral reserves or resources 
as defined in NI 43-101. 

The OGK project is an early stage, grass-roots exploration project without identified reserves. As such, the 
existence of potential tailings storage areas, waste disposal areas, heap leach pad areas, and processing plant 
sites has not been studied. 
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Figure 2 – Claim Location Map 

4.3. Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

Access to the east and central parts of the Property is possible via the Finlay-Osilinka-Haha Creek forestry 
network from Mackenzie, BC. These are well constructed, all-weather logging roads that are normally 
maintained by logging companies working in the area. The roads are generally snowfree from May until 
October unless plowed for winter harvesting. There is limited road infrastructure to the western portion of the 
Property, where logging roads have fallen into disrepair or been decommissioned. Access to the extremities 
of the Property is generally possible on foot or via helicopter. Commercial helicopter services are available in 
Prince George, Fort St. James, and Mackenzie. 

The climate of this region is typically cool and moderate, with warm moist summers and cold winters. The 
lower elevations of the claims are snow free from the end of April until the beginning of November. In the 
highest elevation regions of the claims, winter snow may linger until the end of June and occur again any 
time after the middle of September. Work is generally practical from late May through mid-October. 
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The area is isolated; there are no local supplies or services such as fuel, groceries, or lodging. Most supplies 
are obtained at Prince George or Mackenzie, both of which are almost a full day of travel by road. Prince 
George is the main regional economic hub, and is a service and labour supply center for exploration, 
including field supplies and diamond drilling services. There is an active open pit mining operations being 
developed at Thompson Creek’s Mt. Milligan Cu-Au mine north of Fort St. James. 

The Property is located approximately 45 km west of the Kemess power line, a private high capacity power 
line that services the idled Kemess open pit Cu-Au mine from the Kennedy substation located near 
Mackenzie, BC. The nearest active railhead to the Property is also available at Mackenzie, and is 
approximately 250 road kilometers from the eastern edge of the Property. There is sufficient water available 
for exploration and potential mining activities. Three population centres, Mackenzie, Fort St James, and 
Prince George offer an ample pool of labour for any large-scale endeavour. 

The Property is located on the western side of the Swannell Range, and covers mountains and valleys west of 
Cat Mountain. The area ranges in elevation from about 2200 m ASL in the alpine areas dropping down to the 
Osilinka River valley at approximately 920 m ASL. Slopes are generally shallow at the base, rising to 
precipitous at the peak of both mountains. Outcrop is well exposed on the higher peaks and in stream valleys. 
Talus development is extensive in some areas. The tree line is variable, but in general can be found on 
mountain slopes at about 1,650 m ASL. Vegetation is dominated by sub-alpine spruce and balsam trees that 
form a thick carpet over much of the mid-elevation areas, giving over to spruce and Lodgepole Pine at lower 
elevations, and alpine shrubs and grasses on the peaks. Wildlife in the area includes goats, mountain sheep, 
mountain caribou, wolf, grizzly bear, black bear, deer, moose, elk, beaver, lynx, bobcat, and several species 
of birds. Moose are common in the upland forest and deer are found in areas where adequate grazing exists. 
The Osilinka River and its tributaries have trout and kokanee salmon. 

4.4. History 

Within the current boundary of the Property there are three known MINFILE Occurrences. Two showings 
known as Flame (MINFILE 093N 176) and Goat (MINFILE 094C 097) were explored in the 1970’s and are 
located in the southern portions of the claim group. In the extreme NW portion of the Property there is a third 
showing, the Hogem Copper (MINFILE 094C 050). There is no description of the Hogem Copper showing in 
the MINFILE database other than it was noted on Geological Survey of Canada Map 1030A. These 
occurrences are shown on Figure 3 (below), as well as numerous other MINFILE showings within the area. 
The Flame was held by L.M Hart and optioned to Thor Explorations Ltd. There is no record of any significant 
exploration work done on these occurrences. There are no known mineral reserves or resources on the 
Property nor is there any record of past production. Recent exploration of the property includes an airborne 
geophysical survey and a property-wide reconnaissance geochemical investigation completed by the Optionor 
in 2012. 

The Optionor contracted Canadian Mining Geophysics Ltd. (“CMG”) of Rockwood Ontario to conduct a 
helicopter-borne magnetic gradiometer & radiometric survey on the OGK Project in August 2012. The survey 
consisted of four blocks totalling 505 line-kilometers (l-km) and with a line spacing of 100 meters (m). The 
survey began August 26th, 2012 and was completed August 27th, 2012. The CMG magnetic gradiometer 
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consisted of three (3) potassium magnetometer sensors separated approximately 3.0 m apart. Measured 
gradients included the vertical and transverse (cross-line) horizontal. 

A helicopter-supported, property-wide reconnaissance geochemical investigation of OGK property was 
undertaken by the Optionor from September 9 through September 29, 2012. The exploration efforts were 
focused on following up on anomalies identified from the August geophysical survey conducted by CMG. 
Specifically, the September 2012 mineral exploration program prioritized work in two areas identified by 
previous work, the Slide Zone and the Fox Zone. During the program a total of 68 rock samples, 112 stream 
sediment samples and 383 soils samples were collected in the field and subsequently submitted for assay to 
Inspectorate Labs in Richmond, B.C. 

The 2012 program had two primary goals: 1) to explore the Fox Zone and the Slide Zone which have been 
deemed prospective by previous work (including anomalies outlined by the airborne geophysical survey 
flown in August 2012) with the intention to determine priority drill targets for a future campaign, and 2) to 
conduct property-wide geological/geochemical reconnaissance in order to identify new areas and anomalies 
that warrant detailed examination. 

 

Figure 3 – Property Mineral Tenures 
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4.5. Geological Setting 

Regional Geology 

The Property occurs in the Mesozoic Hogem Batholith, a large composite intrusive complex found within a 
northwest-southeast trending remnant of the Quesnel Terrane. The Quesnel Terrane is interpreted as a west-
facing volcanic arc assemblage obducted onto ancestral North America and is part of the larger Quesnel-
Stikine Terrane, a 1,200 km long obducted island arc assemblage. The Jurassic to Triassic Quesnel-Stikine 
Terrane consists primarily of calc-alkalic with lesser alkalic volcanic rocks, associated sediments and related 
intrusive bodies that parallel the northwesterly trend of the Canadian Cordillera, and stretch the north-south 
length of British Columbia (Figure 4). The Quesnel Terrane is separated by faults from older rocks on both 
sides; to the east are mostly rocks assigned to ancestral North America and to the west are primarily oceanic 
rocks of the Cache Creek Oceanic Terrane in the south and the east-facing Stikine Terrane in the North. 

The Quesnel-Stikine Terrane is host to numerous important calc-alkalic porphyry copper-molybdenum ± gold 
± silver and alkalic porphyry copper-gold-silver ± molybdenum ± palladium/palladium deposits. Past or 
present producers include: Copper Mountain, Afton, Mt. Polley, Galore Creek, Kemess (North and South), 
Mt Milligan, and Red Chris. 

 

Figure 4 -- Quesnel and Stikine Terranes and partial list of porphyry occurrences in BC 
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Local Geology 

The OGK Property is entirely underlain by intrusive rocks of the Hogem Plutonic Suite; excepting minor 
Tackla Group volcaniclastic and volcano-sedimentary rocks present as contained rafts. Limited mapping 
undertaken on the property has largely verified broad geological detail contained in bedrock maps available 
from the Ministry of Energy and Mines (Geofile 2005-1, by N.W.D. Massey, D.G. MacIntyre, P.J. 
Desjardins, and R.T. Cooney): the northern parts of the property are dominated by granodiorite to monzonitic 
intrusive rocks of Phase 1 Hogem Suite, and the southern part is predominantly rocks of the Duckling Creek 
Syenite Complex (“DCSC”). 

The Hogem Batholith Complex is an Upper Triassic to Lower Cretaceous composite intrusion emplaced into 
volcanic rocks of the late Triassic Takla Group, which is part of a larger, intraoceanic tectonic assemblage 
known as the Quesnellia Trough. To the west, older, uplifted Cache Creek Group rocks, along with some 
minor Takla Group volcanics and other lithologies, are separated from this belt by the Pinchi fault zone. To 
the east, the Manson fault zone separates this volcanic belt from older, uplifted rocks, primarily of the 
Wolverine Complex. 

The Hogem Batholith, as described by Barry J Price (Lysander Technical Report, 2006), is “an elongate, 
north-west trending, semi-concordant, synorogenic, composite, mesozonal, plutonic complex”. Garnett 
(1978) subdivided the emplacement of the complex into three distinct phases using geochronological data: 

1.  The main intrusive event, which yields K/Ar dates within the limits of 176 Ma to 212 Ma, is 
chemically divided into the Hogem basic suite and the Hogem granodiorite. 

2.  The DCSC and Chuchi syenite bodies, which fall within the limits of 162 Ma to 182 Ma; despite the 
age overlap with Phase I, these are distinctly younger on the basis of field observations. 

3.  Granite, yielding K/Ar dates within the limits 108 Ma to 126 Ma, which occurs as relatively small, 
isolated bodies at four localities at the southern extents of the Hogem Batholith. 

The DCSC is host to most of the alkalic porphyry copper gold deposits in the Hogem Batholith, including 
Lorraine, Tam, Dorothy, Elizabeth, and numerous others. Extensive work done in the area by Lorraine 
Copper and Teck Resources at the adjacent Lorraine Property (the “Teck Resources Property”) has 
produced a much greater understanding of the Duckling Creek lithologies. Summarizing from a description 
by Baxter (2008), the DCSC in this area is a multiple-stage dyke swarm intruded into older Hogem calk-
alkaline intrusions that can be divided into three ‘stages’. Stage 1 rocks comprise northwest-trending dyke 
swarms of pyroxenite-gabbro intrusive phases, melasyenite (feldspar-diopside-biotite rocks), and leucosyenite 
phases. Stage 2 rocks are a compositionally similar suite of pyroxenite, pyroxene-gabbros, melasyenites, 
monzonites, and megacrystic syenites, which obliquely cut the Stage 1 dykes. The two stages are temporally 
separated by a major tectonic event represented by local shear zones. Stage 3 consists of Northeast-trending 
quartz-phyric leucosyenite and K-feldspar pegmatite dykes that cut all earlier phases. 
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4.6. Exploration 

Airborne Geophysics (August, 2012) 

The Optionor contracted Canadian Mining Geophysics Ltd. (“CMG”) of Rockwood Ontario to conduct a 
helicopter-borne magnetic gradiometer & radiometric survey on the Project in August 2012 (AR33515). The 
survey consisted of four blocks totaling 505 line-kilometers (l-km) and with a line spacing of 100 meters (m). 
The survey began August 26th, 2012 and was completed August 27th, 2012. The CMG magnetic gradiometer 
consisted of three (3) potassium magnetometer sensors separated approximately 3.0 m apart. Measured 
gradients included the vertical and transverse (cross-line) horizontal. A map showing the location of survey 
grids is presented in Figure 5. 

Following is a list of collections of the map products. Each map product was colour shaded (except GRS) on 
a topographic backdrop with flight lines and contours. 

• Magnetic Field: Analytic Signal (ASIG) 
• Magnetic Field: Computed Vertical Gradient (CVG) 
• Gamma Ray Spectrometry: Potassium Count (GRS-K) 
• Gamma Ray Spectrometry: Total Count (GRS-TC) 
• Gamma Ray Spectrometry: Thorium Count (GRS-Th) 
• Gamma Ray Spectrometry: Uranium Count (GRS-U) 
• Magnetic Gradient: Measured Cross-Line (MC-HMG) 
• Magnetic Gradient: Measured In-Line (MI-HMG) 
• Magnetic Gradient: Measured Vertical (MVMG) 
• Magnetic Field: Total Magnetic Intensity (TMI) 
• Elevation: Digital Terrain Model (DTM) 
• Gamma Ray Spectrometry: Potassium / Thorium Ratio (GRS-K/Th) 
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Figure 5 – Location of survey blocks and flight lines 
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Geochemical Investigation (September, 2012) 

The Optionor undertook a helicopter-supported, property-wide reconnaissance geochemical investigation of 
Property from September 9 through September 29, 2012, and reported in AR 34263. 

The exploration efforts were focused on following up on anomalies identified from the August geophysical 
survey conducted by CMG. In specific, the September 2012 mineral exploration program prioritized work in 
two areas identified by previous work, the Slide Zone and the Fox Zone. During the program a total of 68 
rock samples, 112 stream sediment samples, and 383 soils samples were collected in the field and 
subsequently submitted for assay to Inspectorate Labs in Richmond, B.C. 

The 2012 program had two primary goals: 1) to explore the Fox Zone and the Slide Zone, which have been 
deemed prospective by previous work (including anomalies outlined by the airborne geophysical survey 
flown in August 2012), with the intention to determine priority drill targets for a future campaign, and 2) to 

conduct property-wide geological/geochemical reconnaissance in order to identify new areas of anomalies 
that warrant detailed examination. 

4.7. Mineralization 

Three distinct styles of mineralization are currently recognized at the Property: 

1. Disseminated copper mineralization (chalcopyrite) is noted within monzonite of DCSC in 
conjunction with strong potassic alteration at the Slide Zone. 

2. Quartz-sulphide veins, bearing chalcopyrite and pyrite are seen with proximal disseminated sulphides 
in the Slide Zone. 

3. Vein-hosted gold mineralization is recognized at both the Slide Zone and the Nova Zone. 

At the Slide Zone, disseminated copper mineralization (chalcopyrite) is noted within monzonite of DCSC in 
conjunction with strong potassic alteration. Also in this area, quartz-sulfide veins bearing chalcopyrite and 
pyrite are seen with proximal disseminated sulphides. Vein-hosted gold mineralization is recognized at both 
the Slide Zone and Nova Zone. 

In the Slide Zone area, two areas of concentrated mineralization were identified in situ. The strongest 
mineralization found is located in the saddle depression along the ridge, close to the border with Teck 
Resource’s Property. This saddle shows very intense alteration and appears to be a shear zone that has 
provided a structural corridor for exploitation by mineralizing fluids. Mineralization consists of 
pyritechalcopyrite veins with minor disseminated mineralization in direct proximity to veins. The saddle area 
is approximately 150 m wide with several small, discreet shear zones ranging from 40 cm to 1 m. Due to 
debris cover it is not possible to determine the N-S continuity of the structure. Additionally, three samples of 
a quartz vein (of 55 cm width) located at the western extent of the saddle returned gold values of 0.092, 0.156 
and 2.992 g/t, respectively. Weaker, but more extensive and locally pervasive mineralization is found within a 
southward extension of intensely altered rock at the centre of the Slide Zone. Copper mineralization, largely 
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in the form of malachite, was identified in a 1-5 m wide zone along the nose of a roughly N – S ridge over a 
length of approximately 1 km. Mineralized areas and a simplified version of geological observations made at 
the Slide Zone area are shown in Figure 6 below. 

 

Figure 6 -- New geologic observations from the Slide Zone, 2012 

In the Nova Zone (northwest project area) large quartz veins, traceable for approximately 40 m, are found 
bearing minor sulphides including pyrite, chalcopyrite and galena. Four samples of these large quartz veins 
were assayed and returned gold values from 0.018 to 1.49 g/t Au. 

4.8. Sampling and Analysis 

In October 2014, the Issuer contracted Geotronics Consulting Inc. to carry out four types of geochemistry 
surveying on the Property as well as induced polarization and resistivity surveys. The purpose of the work 
was to locate any possible alkalitype porphyry copper deposits perhaps similar to the nearby Lorraine 
deposits.  
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MMI Soil Sampling 

The MMI survey consisted of 74 samples over 3 lines within the South Grid area. Samples were taken every 
50 meters over a total survey length of 3,650 meters. The samples were bagged and sent to SGS Labs in 
Burnaby, BC, for analysis where they were tested for 53 elements. The results for 24 of these, namely, 
copper, gold, silver, cobalt, molybdenum, zinc, cadmium, nickel, cerium, lead, and lead, as well as heavy and 
light rare earths, were divided by their respected mean background values to obtain a number called a 
response ratio. The light rare earths compiled were cerium, lanthanum, neodymium, praseodymium, 
samarium, europium, gadolinium and the heavy rare earths compiled were dysprosium, erbium, terbium, 
yttrium, and ytterbium. Four stacked histograms were then made for each survey line. As well contour plans 
were made for the following thirteen elements: silver, gold, cadmium, cerium, cobalt, copper, molybdenum, 
nickel, lead, uranium, zinc, and strontium, as well as the aggregate of the light and heavy rare earths. In 
addition, a plan map was drawn of the potassium to thorium ratio. 

Standard Soil Sampling 

The standard soil sampling was carried out in reconnaissance mode along 3 lines within the South Grid area, 
where samples were taken every 50 meters, and along 2 lines within the North Grid area, where samples were 
taken every 100 meters (except for a small area of exploration interest within the northwest area where 
samples were taken every 20 meters). 

The total number of samples picked up was 294 along a total distance of 21.9 km. The sampling was done 
with a mattock digging to the B-layer from which a sample was taken and placed in a kraft envelope. The silt 
samples consisted of 31 that were taken at stream sites along the same soil sampling roads and consisted of 
taking a sample at low energy sites where the fines were in greater amount. In addition, 7 rock samples were 
picked up mainly at 2 sites of exploration interest within the northwest part of the North Grid area. All soil, 
silt, and rock samples were taken to SGS Labs in Burnaby, BC, for analysis where they were tested for 34 
elements. Ten of these were chosen, namely, silver, arsenic, cadmium, cobalt, copper, molybdenum, nickel, 
lead, and zinc, to be placed on bubble-plot type plan maps. 

Induced Polarization and Resistivity Surveys 

The resistivity and IP surveys were carried out using a BRGM Elrec Pro multi-channel receiver operating in 
the time-domain mode. The transmitter used was a BRGM VIP 4000 powered by a 6.5-kilowatt motor 
generator. The dipole length and reading interval chosen was 50 meters read up to 10 levels. Five lines of 
IP/resistivity surveying with a line spacing of 100 meters were carried out for a total survey length of 7,850 
meters. The IP and resistivity results were plotted, both in pseudosection form, and contoured. A 2-D 
inversion interpretation using Geotomo software, a least squares method, was also carried out along each of 
the IP lines and the results plotted and contoured. Two sets of maps, for a total of ten, were created for both 
the pseudosection and inversion results. 

4.9. Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 

There are no mineral resources or reserves as defined in NI 43-101 being reported on the Property. 
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4.10. Stated Business Objectives 

The Issuer expects to use its available working capital to finance exploration and development on the 
Property, and for general working capital, including complementary acquisitions. The Issuer’s immediate 
short-term objectives will be to: 

(a)  complete the remaining Phase I recommended work program on the Property pursuant to the 
Technical Report; 

(b)  satisfy its obligations under the Option Agreement to keep the Option in good standing; and 

(c)  acquire and evaluate additional complementary mineral properties to expand the Issuer’s 
portfolio. 

The Issuer’s long-term objectives will be to: 

(a)  determine if an economic mineral deposit exists on the Property; 

(b)  find one or more economic mineral deposits and bring them to commercial production; and 

(c)  deliver a return on capitalization to shareholders. 

4.11. Milestones 

The principal milestone that must occur for the stated short-term business objectives described above to be 
accomplished is as follows: 
 

Milestone Date Cost 

Option Agreement First Anniversary 
Commitments 

  

 

 
Exploration Work on Property 

On or before First 
Anniversary of Final 
Exchange Bulletin 

 

 
$250,000 

Option Agreement Second Anniversary 
Commitments 

  

 

 
Pay $35,000 to the Optionor 

On or before Second 
Anniversary of Final 
Exchange Bulletin 

 

 
$35,000 

Issue 90,000 Issuer 
Shares to the Optionor 

 
Issue 210,000 Issuer 
Shares to the Vendors 

On or before Second 
Anniversary of Final 
Exchange Bulletin 

 
 

N/A 



 
 

BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. – LISTING STATEMENT 
September 21, 2015 

Page | 31 
 

 

 
Exploration Work on Property 

On or before Second 
Anniversary of Final 
Exchange Bulletin 

 

 
$350,000 

Option Agreement Third Anniversary 
Commitments 

  

 

Pay $15,000 to the Optionor 
 

Pay $25,000 to the Vendors 

On or before Third 
Anniversary of Final 
Exchange Bulletin 

 

 
$40,000 

Issue 150,000 Issuer 
Shares to the Optionor 

 
Issue 350,000 Issuer 

On or before Third 
Anniversary of Final 
Exchange Bulletin 

 
 

N/A 

 

4.12. Principal Use of Funds  

The Issuer had unaudited working capital of approximately $116,231 as at August 31, 2015. The following 
table sets out the principal purposes, using approximate amounts, for which the Issuer intends to use the 
estimated funds available to the Issuer for the 12 months following the date of this Listing Statement. The 
table does not include any proceeds that may be available to the Issuer through the exercise of the Warrants, 
or Incentive Stock Options.  
 

Use of Available Funds Amount 

General and administrative costs $12,000 

Audit, legal and other professional fees  $13,000 

Filing fees and transfer agent fees $16,500 

Costs for implementing the business objectives 
in the 12 months following the Closing Date 

$39,000 (1) 

Unallocated working capital $35,731 

Total $116,231 

 Notes: 

 (1) Cost of exploration work on Property required in order to maintain Option Agreement in good standing. 
 
There may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in 
order for the Issuer to achieve its stated business objectives. 
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5.  SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1. Annual Information 

The information below should be read in conjunction with the management’s discussion and analysis, the 
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information, all of which are 
available at www.sedar.com.  The Issuer has not had any material sales or revenues and has not declared any 
dividends. This selected financial information have been prepared using accounting policies in compliance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”). 

 

There are no restrictions on the Issuer’s ability to pay dividends on the Common Shares other than the 
Issuer’s financial position. The Issuer has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its Common Shares. The 
Issuer intends to retain its earnings, if any, to finance growth and expand its operations and does not 
anticipate paying any dividends on its Common Shares in the foreseeable future.  The payment of dividends 
in the future will depend on the earnings and financial condition of the Issuer and such other factors as the 
board of directors of the Issuer may consider appropriate. 

5.2. Quarterly Information 

Below is a summary of the quarterly results of the Issuer for the eight most recently completed quarters: 

 

Nine Months 
Ended April 30, 

2015 

(Unaudited) 
 

 

For the Year 
Ended  

July 31, 2014 

(Audited) 

 

For the Year 
Ended  

July 31, 2013 

(Audited) 

 

For the Year 
Ended  

July 31, 2012 

(Audited) 

     
Total Revenues Nil 4,823 5,995 1,518 
     
Net Income (loss) for the year:     
 Total (266,510) (91,987) (57,351) (65,328) 
 Per share basis (0.05) (0.03) (0.02) (0.08) 
 Diluted – per share basis  (0.05) (0.03) (0.02) (0.08) 
     
Total Assets 218,012 459,709 553,825 621,629 
     
Total long term financial liabilities Nil Nil Nil Nil 
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6.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the Issuer as at and for the unaudited nine-month 
period ended April 30, 2015 and for the audited year ended July 31, 2014 are incorporated by reference and 
attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “B”. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the 
unaudited financial statements of the Issuer as at April 30, 2015 and the audited financial statements of the 
Issuer for the year ended July 31, 2014, together with the notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference 
and attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “A”. 

7.  MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The Issuer’s common shares are currently listed and posted for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange under 
the trading symbol “BDC”. 

8.  CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

8.1. Change in Share Capital 

The following table sets out the change in share capital and fully diluted share capital of the Issuer since July 
31, 2014, bring the most recently completed financial year: 

 

 For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

April 30, 
2015 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended 

January 
31, 2015 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

October 
31, 2014 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

July 31, 
2014 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

April 30, 
2014 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

January 
31, 2014 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

October 
31, 2013 

For the 
Quarter 
Ended  

July 31, 
2013 

         
Total Revenues Nil Nil Nil 10 1,483 1,730 1,600 5,726 
         
Net Loss:         
 Total (23,319) (210,809) (32,382) (50,549) (26,022) (6,286) (9,130) (13,047) 
 Per share basis (0.01) (0.04) (0.01) (0.02) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
 Diluted  (0.01) (0.04) (0.01) (0.02) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
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Shares 

Outstanding 
Share Capital 

($) 

Fully Diluted 
Percentage of Total 
Shares Outstanding 

Issued and Outstanding as at July 
31, 2014 

4,508,000 592,383 83.7% 

Issued to Optionor 200,000(1) 10,000 3.7% 

Issued as Finder’s Fee 400,000(2) 20,000 7.5% 

Total Issued and Outstanding as 
at April 30, 2015 

            5,108,000 622,383 - 

Reserved for Issuance pursuant to 
Incentive Stock Option Plan 

245,000(3) 49,000 4.5% 

Reserved for Issuance pursuant to 
Charitable Stock Options 

 35,000(3) 7,000 0.6% 

Fully Diluted Issued and 
Outstanding as at April 30, 2015 

            5,388,000 678,383 100% 

 
Notes: 
(1) 200,000 Shares issued to the Optionor pursuant to the Option Agreement and not including the further aggregate 800,000 

Shares that may be issued under the Option Agreement. 

(2) A finder’s fee of $4,000 and 400,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.05 per share was paid to Ramtag Resources 
Ltd. (owned by Ronald Fisher) in connection with the Qualifying Transaction. 

(3) Incentive Stock Options and Charitable Options previously granted are exercisable at a price of $0.20 per Share. 

9.  OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

9.1. Incentive Stock Options 

The following table sets forth the Incentive Stock Options both previously granted as of the date of this 
Listing Statement: 

 
 
 

Persons who have 
received 

Options (as a group) 

 

 
Designation and 

Number 
of Shares Under 

Option 

 
 
 

Purchase Price 
of Securities 

Under Option 

 
 
 
 

Expiration 
Date 

Market Value of 
Securities Under 

Option 
on the Date of 

Grant (1)
 

Officers of the 
Issuer (1 person) (2)

 

45,000 $0.20 April 30, 2017 Nil 

Directors (who are not 
also Officers)  
(1 person)(3)

 

102,500 $0.20 April 30, 2017 Nil 
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Employees of the 
Issuer 

Nil Nil N/A Nil 

Consultants of the 
Issuer 

Nil Nil N/A Nil 

Other persons (3 
persons)(4)

 

97,500 $0.20 April 30, 2017 Nil 

Total 245,000 - - - 

Notes: 

(1) Calulated by subtracting the exercise price from the market price, multiplied by the number of options held. The last trading 
price of the Shares before the stock was announcement was $0.05 per share. 

(2)     Richard Haslinger.  

(3)     Ron Miles. 

(4)    Adam Kim, David P. Franklin and Paul K. C. Fong.  Each of the foregoing individuals ceased to hold their respective positions 
with the Issuer as of August 6, 2014. 

9.2. Charitable Options 

In accordance with the TSXV Policy 4.7, the Issuer has granted non-transferable Charitable Options to the 
Canadian Cancer Society, an Eligible Charitable Organization, to purchase 35,000 Shares, all of which 
Charitable Options are exercisable at a price of $0.20 per Share until the earlier of the date that is not more 
than ten years from the date of grant and the 90th day from the date that the Canadian Cancer Society ceases 
to be  an  Eligible Charitable Organization. The aggregate number of Shares issuable upon exercise of options 
granted to Eligible Charitable Organizations cannot exceed 1% of the total number of Shares (calculated on a 
non-diluted basis adjusted for any stock splits or consolidations) outstanding immediately after the closing of 
this Offering and such options, together with options granted to directors, officers, or technical consultants of 
the Issuer, shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares. 

 
 
 

Optionee 

Number of Shares 
Reserved Under Option 

Pursuant to the IPO 

 
 
 

Exercise Price 

 
 
 

Expiry Date 
 

Canadian Cancer Society 
 

35,000 
 

$0.20 
 

April 30, 2022 

 

10.  DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1. General 

The Issuer is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares without par value of which, as at the date 
hereof, 5,108,000 Shares are issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable.  No additional capital 
has or will be paid with respect to the issued and outstanding Shares. 
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The holders of Shares are entitled to dividends, if, as and when declared by the board of directors, to one vote 
in respect of each Share held at meetings of the shareholders of the Issuer and, upon dissolution, to share 
equally in such assets of the Issuer as are distributable to the holders of Shares. All Shares to be outstanding 
after completion of the Transaction will be fully paid and non-assessable. 

There are no pre-emptive rights or conversion rights attached to the Shares. There are also no redemption or 
purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, sinking or purchase fund provisions, or any provisions as to 
modification, amendment or variation of any such rights or provisions attached to the Shares. 

10.2. Prior Sales 

Since the date of incorporation of the Issuer, 5,108,100 Shares have been issued as follows, 5,108,000 of 
which remain outstanding: 

 

 
 

Date Issued 
Number of 

Shares 
Issue Price 
Per Share 

February 14, 2011   100 $0.125 

April 18, 2011       -100 (1) $0.125 

April 18, 2011 1,000,000
(2)

 $0.10 

August 5, 2011 350,000
(2)

 $0.10 

April 30, 2012 3,158,000 $0.20 

August 6, 2014 400,000   $0.05 

August 6, 2014 200,000   $0.05 

TOTAL: 5,108,100 - 

 

Note: 

 (1) These Shares were repurchased by the Issuer on April 18, 2011 for $12.50. These Shares were cancelled and the 
sum of $12.50 was deducted from the stated capital account of the Issuer. 

 
 (2) These Shares are subject to escrow.  See “Escrowed Securities”. 

 
 (3) These Shares were issued upon completion of the IPO on April 30, 2012. 

 
 
IPO Agent Warrants 

In consideration of the services provided by the IPO Agent in connection with the Issuer’s IPO, which 
was completed on April 30, 2012, the Issuer granted the IPO Agent the IPO Agent Warrants which entitle the 
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IPO Agent to acquire 315,800 Shares at an exercise price of $0.20 per Share until 24 months from date the 
Issuer’s shares were listed on the TSXV.  The Issuer’s shares were first listed on the TSXV April 30, 
2012, as such the IPO Agent Warrants expired April 30, 2014. None of the IPO Agent Warrants were 
exercised. 

10.3. Stock Exchange Price 

The following table lists the high and low prices for the Shares on the TSXV as well as the volume traded on 
a monthly basis for each month of the current quarter and the immediately preceding quarter and on a 
quarterly basis for the seven previous quarters. 

Period Average 
High 

Average 
Low 

Total 
Volume 

Month ended July 23, 2015 $0.022 $0.015 114,000 

Month ended June 30, 2015 $0.030 $0.025 8,000 

Month ended May 31, 2015 N/A N/A Nil 

Month ended April 30, 2015 N/A N/A Nil 

Month ended March 31, 2015 N/A N/A Nil 

Month ended February 28, 2015 N/A N/A Nil 

Quarter ended January 31, 2015 $0.033 $0.032 50,000 

Quarter ended October 31, 2014 $0.035 $0.033 46,500 

Quarter ended July 31, 2014 N/A N/A Nil 

Quarter ended April 30, 2014 $0.050 $0.050 15,000 

Quarter ended January 31, 2014 $0.046 $0.040 59,500 

Quarter ended October 31, 2013 N/A N/A Nil 

Quarter ended July 31, 2013 $0.046 $0.027 43,500 
 

11.  ESCROWED SECURITIES 

The following table sets out, as at the date of this Listing Statement, the number and percentage of CPC 
Escrow Shares held in escrow under the CPC Escrow Agreement, dated October 27, 2011 and the number 
and percentage of Issuer Shares that are currently held in escrow: 
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  Prior to Giving Effect to the 
Qualifying Transaction 

As at July 23, 
2015(1)

 

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence of 
Securityholder 

Designation 
of Class 

Number of 
securities 

held in escrow 

Percentage 
of class 

Number of 
securities to be 
held in escrow 

Percentage of 
class 

Ron Miles 
North Vancouver, 
British Columbia 

Shares 350,000 7.76% 262,500 5.14% 

Richard Haslinger 
Vancouver, British 
Columbia. 

Shares 300,000 6.65% 225,000 4.40% 

David Franklin 
Toronto, Ontario 

Shares 300,000 6.65% 225,000 4.40% 

Adam Kim 
Surrey, British 
Columbia 

Shares 50,000 1.11% 37,500 0.73% 

396147 B.C. 
Limited (2) 

Vancouver, British 
Columbia 

Shares 350,000 7.76% 262,500 5.14% 

Notes: 
(1) Percentages calculated on an undiluted basis based on 5,108,000 Issuer Shares issued and outstanding 

following the issuance of 200,000 Shares to the Optionor in order to keep the Option in good standing as well 400,000 
common shares at a deemed price of $0.05 per share to be paid to Ramtag Resources Ltd. (owned by Ronald Fisher) as 
a finder’s fee in connection with the Transaction. 

(2)   396147  B.C.  Limited  is  wholly-owned  by  Paul  Fong,  a  director of the Issuer prior to completion of the 
Qualifying Transaction. 

 
The CPC Escrowed Shares are held in escrow with the Transfer Agent acting as escrow agent for the 
purposes of the Escrow Agreement. Of the 1,350,000 CPC Escrow Shares initially placed in escrow there are 
currently 1,012,500 remaining in escrow.  

The CPC Escrow Shares are currently subject to the release schedule set out in Schedule B(1) to the TSXV’s 
Form 2F – CPC Escrow Agreement.  Pursuant to Schedule B(1) of Form 2F, 10% of the CPC Escrowed 
Shares were released from escrow upon the date of issuance of the Final Exchange Bulletin following the 
closing of the Qualifying Transaction (the “Initial Release”), an additional 15% was released 6 months 
following the Initial Release, and additional tranches are to be released on the dates that are 12 months, 18 
months, 24 months, 30 months and 36 months following the Initial Release.  

If the Issuer meets the TSXV's Tier 1 minimum listing requirements then the release of the CPC Escrowed 
Shares will be accelerated over an 18-month period with 25% of the escrowed securities being releasable at 
the time of the Final Exchange Bulletin, and 25% of the escrowed securities being releasable every 6 months 
thereafter. An accelerated escrow release will not commence until the Issuer has made application to the 
TSXV for listing as a Tier 1 issuer and the TSXV has issued a bulletin that announces the acceptance for 
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listing of the Issuer on Tier 1 of the TSXV. The TSXV's prior consent must be obtained before a transfer 
within escrow of CPC Escrowed Shares. Generally, the TSXV will only permit a transfer within escrow to be 
made to incoming Principals in connection with a proposed Transaction.  

12.  PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the Issuer’s directors and senior officers, no person or company owns beneficially, 
directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, Shares carrying more than 10% of all voting rights 
attached to the outstanding Issuer Shares. 

12.1. Voting Trusts 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, no voting trust exists within the Issuer such that more than 10 percent of any 
class of voting securities of the Issuer are held, or are to be held, subject to any voting trust or similar 
agreement. 

12.2. Associates and Affiliates 

The Issuer has no Associates or Affiliates. 

13.  DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

The following table sets out the name, municipality and province of residence, position with the Issuer, 
current principal occupation, period during which served as a director or officer, and the number and 
percentage of Issuer Shares which will be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or 
direction is proposed to be exercised, by each of the Issuer’s directors and officers. 
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Name, Municipality of 

Residence and 
Position(s) with the 

Issuer 

 
Principal Occupation 
For Past Five Years 

 
Involved 

with Issuer 
Since 

Number and 
Percentage 

of Shares owned or 
controlled (1) 

Ron Miles (2)
 

North Vancouver, B.C. 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Director 

Self-employed businessman since 1996; 
Director and/or officer of numerous 
reporting and/or publicly traded 
companies including Haltain 
Developments Corp. (unlisted), 
Director, May 2011 to present 
December 2007 to August 2011; former 
Director, Pivotal Therapeutics, Inc. 
(CNSX-PVO), June 2010 to January 
2012; former President and founding 
director of Gateway Enterprises Inc., a 
CPC listed on the TSX Venture 
Exchange which successfully completed 
its qualifying transaction in March, 
2004. 

Incorporation 
(February 

2011) 

350,000 
 

6.85% 

Faisal Manji (2) 

Richmond, B.C. 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Director 

Chartered Professional Accountant, 
Certified General Accountant since 
October 2012; Chief Financial 
Officer of Auxellence Health 
Corporation since July 2013; 
Accountant with Nicholson & 
Assoc. since October 2012; 
employee at Vancity Savings since 
October 2003. 

August 6,  
2014 

Nil 
 

0% 

George Nicholson (2) 
Langley, B.C.  
Director 

Self-employed geologist since 
1987; Director of Auracle 
Resources Ltd. from March 2010 to 
April 2013; Director and V.P. 
Exploration of Stratton Resources 
Inc. from May 2007 to June 2013; 

August 6,  
2014 

Nil 
 

0% 

 
Notes: 

(1) Percentages calculated on an undiluted basis based on 5,108,000 Issuer Shares issued and outstanding following 
the issuance of 200,000 Shares to the Optionor and 400,000 Shares as a finder’s fee payable to Ramtag Resources Ltd. 

(2) Members of the Issuer’s Audit Committee. 

 
As at the date of this Listing Statement, the directors and officers of the Issuer as a group will beneficially 
own, directly or indirectly, an aggregate of 650,000 Issuer Shares, representing 12.73% of the issued and 
outstanding Shares. 

13.1. Directors and Officers Biographic Information 

Additional biographic information about the members of the board of directors and management of the Issuer 
is provided below: 
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Ron Miles, CEO, Director, (Age: 63). 

Mr. Miles is a self-employed businessman who has been engaged in various private investment activities 
since 1996. Mr. Miles served as President and a founding director of Gateway Enterprises Inc. (“Gateway”), a 
CPC listed on the TSXV which successfully completed it Qualifying Transaction in March of 2004. Gateway 
is now known as Portal Resources Ltd. and trades on the TSXV under the symbol “PDO”. Mr. Miles is the 
former President and director of Karma Capital Corp. (“Karma”) (May 2006 to August 2006). Karma was 
formed as a CPC in 2000 but failed to complete its Qualifying Transaction on time and was delisted from the 
TSXV. Mr. Miles came onto Karma’s board after this period and was involved in restructuring the company 
and completing a financing and acquisition in July of 2006. Karma is now known as Biosign Technologies 
Inc., a healthcare technology company and is listed on the TSXV under the symbol “BIO”. Mr. Miles is a 
director of Tulox Resources Inc. (“Tulox”), a junior mining exploration company listed on the CNSX (TUX) 
a position he has held since December of 2007. In 2010, Tulox entered into a plan of arrangement with its 
wholly-owned subsidiary companies: Canadian Data Preserve Inc.; GreenFab Build Systems Inc.; Media 
Script Marketing Inc.; Manuweb Software Systems Inc.; Tulox HR Online Management Inc.; and Tulox Real 
Estate Developments Inc. Under the terms of the plan of arrangement each subsidiary became a  separate 
reporting issuer with the same shareholders as Tulox. Mr. Miles was a director of Pivotal Therapeutics Inc., 
(fka Media Script Marketing Inc.) (“Pivotal”), a biotechnology company listed on the CNSX (PVO)(June 
2010 – August 2011), and is a director of GreenFab Building Systems Inc. (“GreenFab”), a non-listed 
reporting issuer since June 2010. In August 2011, Tulox entered into a plan of arrangement with its wholly-
owned subsidiary companies: Newlox Gold Ventures Corp. (“Newlox”) and Silican Processing Corp. 
(“Silican”). Under the terms of the plan of arrangement each subsidiary became a separate reporting issuer 
with the same shareholders as Tulox. Mr. Miles is a director of Silican which is a  non-listed reporting issuer 
involved in mineral exploration (April 2011 - Present). Tulox Real Estate Developments Inc. entered into a 
plan of arrangement with its wholly-owned subsidiary company Haltain Developments Corp. (“Haltain”) in 
May of 2011 whereby Haltain became a separate reporting issuer with the same shareholders as Tulox Real 
Estate Developments Inc. Mr. Miles is a director of Haltain, a non- listed reporting issuer involved in real 
estate (May 2011 – present). Mr. Miles obtained a Diploma of Technology from the British Columbia 
Institute of Technology (1973) and a Bachelor of Science in Engineering from the Michigan Technological 
University (1977).  Mr. Miles will devote approximately 10% of his business time to the business and affairs 
of the Issuer. It is not anticipated that Mr. Miles will enter into a non-competition or non-disclosure 
agreement with the Issuer. 

Faisal Manji, CPA, CGA, CFO, Director (Age: 36).  

Mr. Manji has been a member of Chartered Professional Accountants, Certified General Accountants since 
October 2012.  Mr. Manji will be responsible for managing corporate financial risks, financial planning, 
preparation of the financial statements and record- keeping of the Issuer.   Mr. Manji currently serves as Chief 
Financial Officer of Auxellence Health Corporation since July 2013.  Mr. Manji will devote approximately 
10% of his business time to the business and affairs of the Issuer.  It is not anticipated that Mr. Manji will 
enter into a non- competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 
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George Nicholson, Director, (Age: 49).  

Mr. Nicholson has had many years experience as a director and senior officer for mining companies and most 
recently served as a director of Auracle Resources Ltd. (TSX-V: AAL) from March 8, 2010 to April 16, 
2013. Mr. Nicholson will devote approximately 10% of his business time to the business and affairs of the 
Issuer.   It is not anticipated that Mr. Nicholson will enter into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement 
with the Issuer. 

13.2. Corporate Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcies 

Other than described below, no director, officer, Insider or Promoter of the Issuer or a shareholder of the 
Issuer holding a sufficient number of securities to affect materially the control of the Issuer is, or within ten 
years before the date of the prospectus, has been, a director, officer, Insider or Promoter of any other issuer 
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an 
order that denied such issuer access to any statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days or became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Ron Miles is a director of Miramare Capital Inc., which on February 10, 2009 was the subject of a Section 
164 cease trade order by the British Columbia Securities Commission for failure to file financial statements. 
The cease trade order has not been rescinded. Mr. Miles joined the board of Miramare Capital Inc. in May of 
2010, over a year after the issuance of the cease trade order, and resigned as a director on June 21, 2012. 

13.3. Penalties or Sanctions 

No director, officer, Insider or Promoter of the Issuer, or a shareholder of the Issuer holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, has been subject to any 
penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or has been subject 
to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that 
would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

13.4. Individual Bankruptcies 

No director, officer, Insider or Promoter of the Issuer, or a shareholder of the Issuer holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding company 
of any such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, as applicable, become 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or has been subject to 
or has instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold such person’s assets. 
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13.5. Conflicts of Interest 

There are potential conflicts of interest to which the directors, officers, Insiders and Promoters of the Issuer 
will be subject in connection with the operations of the Issuer.  Some of the directors and officers have been 
and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets and businesses, with a view to 
potential transactions of interests in businesses and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other 
companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers will be in direct competition with the 
Issuer.  Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies as provided under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia), the TSXV, and applicable securities laws, regulations and policies. 

13.6. Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

The following table sets out the directors, officers or promoters of the Issuer that are, or have been within the 
last five years, directors, officers or promoters of other Companies that are or were reporting issuers in any 
Canadian jurisdiction: 

 

 
Name 

Name and Jurisdiction 
of Reporting Issuer 

Name of 
Trading Market 

 

 
Position 

 

 
From 

 

 
To 

Faisal 
Manji 

Auxellence Health Corporation 
(formerly 0924888 B.C. Ltd.). 
British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario 

Canadian 
Securities 
Exchange  

Director Jun 2013 Present 

Ron Miles Haltain Developments Corp. 
British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario 

Canadian 
Securities 
Exchange  

President 
 

Director 

Aug 2011 
 

Aug 2011 

July 2014 
 

July 2014 

George 
Nicholson 

Auracle Resources Ltd. 
British Columbia and Alberta 

TSX Venture 
Exchange 

Director Mar 2010 Apr 2013 
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14.  CAPITALIZATION 

14.1. Issued Capital 

The Issuer has the following issued and outstanding securities: 
 
 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  5,108,000 5,388,000   
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or Related 
Person of the Issuer, or by persons 
or companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 10% 
voting position in the Issuer (or 
who would beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 10% voting position 
in the Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
650,000 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
650,000 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.7% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.1% 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 4,458,000 4,738,000 87.3% 87.9% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding securities 
subject to resale restrictions, 
including restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements or 
in a shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C)  

 
 
 
 
 
1,012,500 
 

 
 
 
 
 
1,012,500 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 4,095,500 4,375,500 80.2% 81.2% 
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14.2. Public Securityholders (Registered):  

 
For the purposes of this Listing Statement, "Public Securityholders" are persons other than persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

Class of Security: 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  0  0 
     
100 – 499 securities  0  0 
     
500 – 999 securities  0  0 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  0  0 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  0  0 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  0  0 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 
     
5,000 or more  securities  7  1,456,667 
     
TOTAL:  7  1,456,667 
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14.3. Public Securityholders (Beneficial):  

 
The following includes all: (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 
shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has been 
given written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the 
intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and 
holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will 
not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 

 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
100 – 499 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
500 – 999 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  4  4,000 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  41  86,000 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  9  28,500 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  4,000 
     
5,000 or more  securities  160  4,985,500 
     
Unable to confirm  0  0 
     
TOTAL:  215  5,108,000 
     

Notes: 
 
(1) This number includes objecting beneficial holders. 
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14.4. Non-Public Securityholders (Registered):  

 
For the purposes of this Listing Statement, "Non-Public Securityholders" are persons enumerated in section 
(B) of the issued capital chart.  

 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
100 – 499 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
500 – 999 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  Nil  Nil 
     
5,000 or more securities  2  650,000 
     
TOTAL:  2  650,000 
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15.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

15.1. Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

Compensation for the Issuer’s NEOs and directors will be comprised of stock options and the reimbursement 
of expenses, except for remuneration payable to Richard Haslinger, Faisal Manji, Ron Miles and George 
Nicholson as disclosed herein. The Issuer does not have any employment or consulting agreements with any 
NEOs, though the Issuer may enter into employment or consulting agreements with any NEOs in the future. 
The Issuer does not have any agreements with any NEOs for bonus payment or for the payment of a fee in the 
event of the resignation or termination of a NEO or a change of control of the Issuer. The board of directors 
of the Issuer will determine the amount and form of compensation and it is expected that the board of 
directors will review compensation policies of similar exploration stage companies when making such 
determinations.  At this time, the board of directors has not established any benchmark or performance goals 
that the NEOs must achieve in order to maintain their respective positions as NEOs with the Issuer. However, 
the NEOs are expected to carry out their duties in an effective and efficient way and to advance the 
exploration and development goals of the Issuer. If the board of directors determines that these duties are not 
being met, the board of directors has the ability to replace such NEOs in its discretion. 

Option Based Awards 

Pursuant to the Issuer’s stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”), the Board may from time to time, in its 
discretion, and in accordance with the Exchange requirements, grant to directors, officers, and technical 
consultants to the Issuer, non-transferable Stock Options to purchase Issuer Shares, provided that the number 
of Issuer Shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Issuer Shares 
exercisable for a period of up to 10 years from the date of grant. The number of Shares reserved for issuance 
to any individual director or officer will not exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding Shares 
and the number of Shares reserved for issuance to all technical consultants will not exceed two percent (2%) 
of the issued and outstanding Shares. See “Option to Purchase Securities” for more information. 

15.2. Summary Compensation Table 

Audited Year-End Compensation Table 

The information below contains disclosure of the compensation for the four most highly compensated 
executive officers, in addition to the CEO, regardless of the anticipated amount of such compensation to be 
paid to such individuals, for the most recently completed financial year: 
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Name and 
Principal 
Position 

 

Year(1) 

 
Salary  

($) 
Share- 
based  

Awards 
($) 

Option- 
based 

awards (2)
 

($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

 
Pension 

value 
($) 

 
All other 

compensation 
($) 

 
Total 

compensation 
($) 

Ron Miles 

President 
and CEO(3) 

 

2014 

2013 

2012 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

$14,623 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

$6,000 (5) 

$6,000 (5) 

$1,500 (5) 

$6,000 

$20,623 

Nil 

Adam Kim 
CFO(4) 

2014 

2013 

2012 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

$1,070 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

$1,070 

Nil 

Note: 
(1)  Financial years ended July 31. The Company was incorporated on February 14, 2011. 

(2)  Refers to options granted under the Issuer’s Plan and is based on the weighted average fair value of stock options granted 
during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2012. The fair value of the options granted annually is obtained by multiplying the 
number of options granted by their value established according to the Black Scholes option pricing model assuming the 
following: average risk-free interest rate of 1.60%; expected life of 5 to 10 years, forfeiture rate of 0%, expected volatility of 
93% and expected dividends of nil. 

(3) Ron Miles resigned as President and CEO on August 6, 2014 upon completion of the Qualifying Transaction, though 
remained a director of the Issuer. On August 28, Mr. Miles was re-appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer. 

(4) Adam Kim resigned as CFO on August 6, 2014 upon completion of the Qualifying Transaction. 

(5) Rent paid to Ron Miles by the Issuer in the normal course of operations. All amounts paid have been measured at the agreed 
to amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

Unaudited Interim Compensation Table  

The following table sets out the unaudited compensation paid for each of the Issuer’s NEOs for the nine 
months ended April 30, 2015: 

 
Name and  
Principal 
Position 

 

Salary  
($) 

Share- based 
 Awards (1) 

($) 

Option- 
based 

awards 
($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

 
Pension 

value 
($) 

 
All other 

compensation  
($) 

 
Total 

compensation  
($) 

Richard 
Haslinger (2) 

Former CEO 
and Director 

 
 

8,500 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

8,500 
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Faisal Manji 

CFO, 
Director 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

Richard 
Simpson (3)

 

V.P. Corporate 
Affairs 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

Nick Ayling (4) 

Corporate 
Secretary and 
Director 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

Ron Miles (5) 

CEO and 
Director 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

Notes: 

(1) “Share-based Awards” means an award under an equity incentive plan of equity-based instruments that do not have 
option-like features, including, for greater certainty, common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred 
share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units, and stock. “Option-based Awards” 
means an award under an equity incentive plan of option, including, for greater certainty, share option, share 
appreciation rights, and similar instruments that have option-like features. “Non-equity Incentive Plan 
Compensation” includes all compensation under an incentive plan or portion of an incentive plan that is not an equity 
incentive plan. 

 
(2) Richard Haslinger resigned as Chief Executive Officer and Director on August 28, 2015. 

 
(3) Richard Simpson resigned as V.P. Corporate Affairs on August 28, 2015. 

 

(4) Nick Ayling resigned as Corporate Secretary and Director on May 26, 2015. 

 

(5) Ron Miles was appointed CEO on August 28, 2015. 

 

15.3. Incentive Plan Awards 

An “incentive plan” is any plan providing compensation that depends on achieving certain performance goals 
or similar conditions within a specified period. An “incentive plan award” means compensation awarded, 
earned, paid, or payable under an incentive plan. The following table sets forth all option and share-based 
awards that are outstanding to NEOs: 
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Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option Based Awards (as at the fiscal year end of July 31, 2014) 

 
 Option-based Awards Share-based Awards 

Name Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised 

option 
(#) 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

Option 
expiration 

date 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the- 
money 
option 

($) 

Number of 
shares or 
units of 

shares that 
have not 
vested 

(#) 

Market or 
payout value 

of share- 
based awards 
that have not 

vested 
($) 

Ron Miles 
CEO and Director 

102,500 $0.20 April 30, 
2017 

Nil (1) Nil Nil 

Faisal Manji  
 

CFO and Director 

Nil Nil Nil Nil (1) Nil Nil 

Richard Haslinger  
 

CEO and Director 
(former) 

45,000 $0.20 April 30, 
2017 

Nil (1) Nil Nil 

Richard Simpson  
 

V.P. Corporate Affairs 
(former) 

Nil Nil Nil Nil (1) Nil Nil 

Adam Kim 
CFO (former) 

7,500 $0.20 April 30, 
2017 

Nil (1) Nil Nil 

Nick Ayling  
 

Corporate Secretary 
and Director 
(former) 

Nil Nil Nil Nil (1) Nil Nil 

Notes 

 (1) Calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the market price, multiplied by the number of options held. The last 
trading price of the Shares before the stock was announcement was $0.05 per Share. 

 
Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

The value vested or earned for all incentive plan awards will depend on a number of factors, including the 
market price of the Issuer Shares. There were no incentive plan awards granted during the year ended July 31, 
2014 or to the date of this Listing Statement. 
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Narrative Discussion 

Refer to the sections titled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Option Based Awards”, above, for 
a description of all plan based awards and their significant terms. A copy of the Plan is available under the 
Issuer’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The Issuer may decide to grant option-based awards to its 
directors or officers in the current fiscal year. Details of such grants will be publicly announced by the Issuer 
in the event such a determination is made. 

15.4. Pension Plan Benefits 

The Issuer does not plan to have a pension plan, defined benefit plan, defined contribution plan or deferred 
compensation plan that provides for payments or benefits to the NEOs at, following, or in connection with 
retirement. 

15.5. Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

Other than as set forth herein, there is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement between the Issuer and a 
NEO that provides for payments to a NEO at, following or in connection with any termination (whether 
voluntary, involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the Issuer or a change 
in a NEO’s responsibilities. 

15.6. Directors Compensation 

The information below contains disclosure of all amounts of compensation provided to the directors of the 
Issuer for the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year and for its most recent unaudited quarter. 

Director Compensation Table (for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014) 

 
 

Name 

 
Fees 
($) 

Share- 
based 

awards 
($) 

Option- 
based 

awards(1) 

($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

 
Pension 

value 
($) 

 
All other 

compensation 
($) 

 
Total 

compensation 
($) 

Richard Haslinger Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Paul Fong Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

David P. Franklin Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) The Issuer did not pay any Option-based awards during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014 
 

Director Compensation Table (for the unaudited nine months ended April 30, 2015) 
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Name 

 
Fees 
($) 

Share- 
based 

awards 
($) 

Option- 
based 

awards(1) 

($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

 
Pension 

value 
($) 

 
All other 

compensation 
($) 

 
Total 

compensation 
($) 

Richard Haslinger Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Ron Miles Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $8,500 (2) $8,500 

George Nicholson Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Nick Ayling Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Faisal Manji Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Jason Leikam Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) The Issuer did not pay any Option-based awards during the nine-months ended April 30, 2015. 
(2) Rent paid to Ron Miles by the Issuer in the normal course of operations. All amounts paid have been measured at the agreed 

to amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

Narrative Discussion 

The Issuer does not have any arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which non-NEO directors are 
compensated by the Issuer for their services in their capacity as directors, or for committee participation, 
involvement in special assignments or for services as consultants or experts. The Issuer expects to continue to 
compensate directors primarily through the grant of Incentive Stock Options and reimbursement of expenses 
incurred by such persons acting as directors of the Issuer. 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards for Directors 

The information below contains disclosure of all outstanding share-based awards and option-based awards for 
directors of the Issuer for the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year. 

 Option-based Awards Share-based Awards 

Name Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercise
d option 

(#) 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

Option 
expiration 

date 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the-money 
option(1)

 

($) 

Number of 
shares or units 
of shares that 

have not vested 
(#) 

Market or 
payout value 

of share-based 
awards that 

have not 
vested 

($) 
 

Ron Miles 102,500 0.20 April 30. 
2017 

Nil Nil Nil 

Faisal Manji Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil Nil 

George Nicholson Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil Nil 
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Richard Haslinger (2) 45,000 0.20 April 30. 

2017 
Nil Nil Nil 

Jason Leikam (2) Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil Nil 

Nick Ayling (3) Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil Nil 

 
David Franklin (4) 45,000 0.20 April 30. 

2017 
Nil Nil Nil 

 
Paul Fong (4) 45,000 0.20 April 30. 

2017 
Nil Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) Calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the market price, multiplied by the number of options held. The last 
trading price of the Shares before the stock was announcement was $0.05 per share. 

(2) Resigned from the board of directors as of August 28, 2015. 
(3) Resigned from the board of directors as of May 26, 2015. 
(4) Resigned from the board of directors as of August 6, 2014. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Issuer does not plan to have a pension plan, defined benefit plan, defined contribution plan or deferred 
compensation plan that provides for payments or benefits to the directors at, following, or in connection with 
retirement. 

16.  INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

No individual who is a proposed director, a current or former director, executive officer or employee of the 
Issuer, or any associate thereof is or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial 
year has been, indebted to the Issuer that has not been entirely repaid on or before the date hereof or was 
indebted to another entity, which such indebtedness is, or was at the time during the most recently completed 
financial year of the Issuer, the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any subsidiary. 

17.  RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Issuer is speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to the nature of the Issuer's 
business and the present stage of exploration and development of its mineral properties. The following risk 
factors, as well as risks not currently known to the Issuer, could materially adversely affect the Issuer's future 
business, operations and financial condition and could cause them to differ materially from the estimates 
described in forward-looking statements contained herein. Prospective investors should carefully consider the 
following risk factors along with the other matters set out herein: 
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Changes in the market price of metals, which in the past has fluctuated widely, will significantly affect 
the potential of the Property. 

The potential of the Property to be economically mined is significantly affected by changes in the market 
price of metals. The market price of metals is volatile and is impacted by numerous factors beyond the 
Issuer’s control, including: 

•  expectations with respect to the rate of inflation; 

•  the relative strength of the Canadian dollar and certain other currencies; 

•  interest rates; 

•  global or regional political or economic conditions; 

•  supply and demand for jewelry and industrial products containing metals; and 

•  sales by central banks and other holders, speculators and producers of gold and other metals in 
response to any of the above factors. 

A decrease in the market price of metals could make it difficult or impossible to finance the exploration or 
development of the Property or cause the Issuer to determine that it is impractical to commence or continue 
exploration of the Property or development efforts if any, which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Issuer's results of operations. There can be no assurance that the market price of metals will not decrease. 

There can be no assurance that the Issuer’s exploration programs will result in the establishment of 
mineral reserves or the expansion of such reserves with new mineral reserves. 

The Issuer’s future growth and profitability will depend, in part, on its ability to identify and expand its 
mineral reserves through additional exploration of the Property and on the costs and results of continued 
exploration and development programs. Mining exploration is highly speculative in nature, involves many 
risks and frequently is not productive. Most exploration projects do not result in the discovery of 
commercially mineable ore deposits and no assurance can be given that any anticipated level of recovery of 
mineral reserves will be realized or that any identified mineral deposit will ever qualify as a commercially 
mineable (or viable) ore body which can be legally and economically exploited. There can be no assurance 
that the Issuer's exploration efforts at the Property will be successful. Success in identifying and increasing 
reserves is the result of a number of factors, including the quality of a company's management, its level of 
geological and technical expertise, the quality of land available for exploration, metal prices and other factors. 
The Issuer's strategy is to seek to expand its identified resources through additional drilling, to define better 
the location and grade of known mineralization and to locate areas of additional mineralization or extensions 
of known mineralization. However, feasibility studies will be necessary to determine whether mineral 
resources qualify as commercially mineable (or viable) ore bodies. If any additional mineralization is 
discovered at the Property, it may take several years in the initial phases of drilling until the evaluation of 
such mineralization is possible, during which time the economic feasibility of the deposit may change. 
Substantial expenditures will be required at the Property to: 
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•  establish mineral reserves through drilling and metallurgical and other testing techniques and 
evaluation of the economic and legal feasibility of mining operations; 

•  determine metal content and the optimal metallurgical recovery processes to extract the metals from 
the ore; 

•  determine the optimal development approach for a mine; and 

•  construct mining and processing facilities. 

As a result of these uncertainties, no assurance can be given that the Issuer's exploration programs at the 
Property will result in the establishment or expansion of mineral reserves. 

There can be no assurance that the Issuer will successfully establish mining operations or become 
profitable. 

The Issuer has no history of production. The Property is in the exploration stage and the Issuer has not 
defined or delineated any proven or probable reserves at the Property. The Property is not currently under 
development. The future development of the Property will require additional financing, the design, 
construction and operation of mines, a processing plant and related infrastructure. As a result, the Issuer will 
be subject to all of the risks associated with establishing new mining operations and business enterprises 
including: 

•  the timing and cost, which will be considerable, of the construction of mining and processing 
facilities; 

•  the availability and costs of skilled labour, power, water, transportation and mining equipment; 

•  the availability and cost of appropriate smelting and/or refining arrangements; 

•  the need to obtain necessary environmental and other governmental approvals and permits, and the 
timing of those approvals and permits; and 

•  the availability of funds to finance construction and development activities. 

The costs, timing and complexities of mine construction and development are increased by the remote 
location of the Property. It is common in new mining operations to experience unexpected problems and 
delays during construction, development, and mine start-up. In addition, delays in the commencement of 
mineral production often occur and, once commenced, the production of a mine may not meet expectations or 
the estimates set forth in feasibility or other studies. Accordingly, there are no assurances that the Issuer will 
successfully establish mining operations or become profitable. 

The figures for the Issuer's mineral deposits are estimates based on interpretation and assumptions. 

The mineralization figures presented in this Listing Statement are based upon estimates made by geologists. 
These estimates are imprecise and depend upon interpretation of geologic formations, grade and metallurgical 
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characteristics, and upon statistical inferences drawn from drilling and sampling analysis, any or all of which 
may prove to be unreliable. Material changes in mineral resources or mineral reserves, grades, stripping ratios 
or recovery rates may affect the economic viability of any project. Estimates can also be affected by such 
factors as environmental permitting regulations and requirements, weather, environmental factors, unforeseen 
technical difficulties, unusual or unexpected geological formations and work interruptions. There can be no 
assurance that: 

•  the estimates made by geologists upon which the mineralization figures presented in this Listing 
Statement are based will be accurate; 

•  mineral resource or other mineralization figures will be accurate; or 

•  this mineralization could be mined or processed profitably. 

The Issuer has not defined or delineated any mineral reserves on the Property and mineralization estimates for 
the Property may require adjustments or downward revisions based upon further exploration or development 
work. It is possible that the Issuer may encounter unusual or unexpected geologic formations or other 
geological or grade problems, unanticipated changes in metallurgical characteristics and gold recovery and 
unanticipated ground or earth conditions. If mining operations are commenced, the grade of mineralization 
ultimately mined, if any, may differ from that indicated by drilling results. Estimates of mineral recovery 
rates used in mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates are uncertain and there can be no assurance that 
mineral recovery rates in small-scale tests will be duplicated in large-scale tests under on-site conditions or in 
production scale. 

The Issuer has not established the presence of any proven and probable mineral reserves at the Property. 
There can be no assurance that subsequent testing or future studies will establish mineral reserves on the 
Property. The failure to establish proven and probable mineral reserves would severely restrict the Issuer's 
ability to successfully implement its strategies for long-term growth. 

The Issuer requires various permits in order to conduct its current and anticipated future operations 
and delays or a failure to obtain such permits, or a failure to comply with the terms of any such permits 
that the Issuer has obtained, could have a material adverse impact on the Issuer. 

Exploration and development of, and production from, any deposit at the Property require permits from 
various Canadian federal, territorial and local government authorities. There can be no assurance that any 
required permits would be obtained in a timely manner, or at all or that they will be obtained on reasonable 
terms. Delays or failure to obtain, expiry of or a failure to comply with the terms of such permits could 
prohibit development of the Property and have a material adverse impact on the Issuer. 

The Issuer's permits, licences and mineral rights to the Property may be subject to challenges by First 
Nation based on the duty of the Federal Government to consult. 

In 2005, the Supreme Court of Canada determined that there is a duty on the government to consult with and, 
where appropriate, accommodate where government decisions have the potential to adverse effect treaty 
rights of First Nations. The Court found that third parties are not responsible for consultation or 
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accommodation of aboriginal interests and that this responsibility lies with government. If the Federal 
Government fails to consult with First Nations before issuing any permits, licences, mineral claims, mineral 
leases, mineral licences or surface rights (collectively, “permits”) to the Issuer, there may be valid challenges 
to any such permits which could affect the development of the Property. 

The Issuer is subject to significant governmental regulations. 

The Issuer's operations and exploration and development activities in Canada are subject to extensive federal, 
territorial and local laws and regulations governing various matters, including: 

•  environmental protection; 

•  management and use of toxic substances and explosives; 

•  management of natural resources; 

•  exploration, development of mines, production and post-closure reclamation; 

•  taxation and mining royalties; 

•  regulations concerning business dealings with native groups; 

•  labour standards and occupational health and safety, including mine safety; and 

•  historic and cultural preservation. 

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may result in civil or criminal fines or penalties or 
enforcement actions, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities enjoining or curtailing 
operations or requiring corrective measures, installation of additional equipment or remedial actions, any of 
which could result in the Issuer incurring significant expenditures. The Issuer may also be required to 
compensate private parties suffering loss or damage by reason of a breach of such laws, regulations or 
permitting requirements. It is also possible that future laws and regulations, or a more stringent enforcement 
of current laws and regulations by governmental authorities, could cause additional expense, capital 
expenditures, restrictions on or suspensions of the Issuer's operations and delays in the development of the 
Property. 

The Issuer's activities are subject to environmental laws and regulations that may increase its costs of 
doing business and restrict its operations. 

All of the Issuer's exploration and production activities are in Canada and subject to regulation by 
governmental agencies under various environmental laws. These laws address emissions into the air, 
discharges into water, management of waste, management of hazardous substances, protection of natural 
resources, antiquities and endangered species and reclamation of lands disturbed by mining operations. 
Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may require significant capital outlays on behalf of the 
Issuer and may cause material changes or delays in the Issuer's intended activities. There can be no assurance 
that future changes in environmental regulations will not adversely affect the Issuer's business, and it is 
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possible that future changes in these laws or regulations could have a significant adverse impact on some 
portion of the Issuer's business, causing the Issuer to re-evaluate those activities at that time. 

Mining is inherently dangerous and subject to conditions or events beyond the Issuer's control, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Issuer. 

The business of mining is subject to a number of risks and hazards including environmental hazards, 
industrial accidents, labour disputes, cave-ins, pit wall failures, flooding, fires, rock bursts, explosions, power 
outages, periodic interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions, and other acts of God or 
unfavourable operating conditions. Such risks could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral properties 
or processing facilities, personal injury or death, loss of key employees, environmental damage, delays in 
mining, increased production costs, monetary losses and possible legal liability. 

Where considered practical to do so, the Issuer maintains insurance against risks in the operation of its 
business in amounts which it believes to be reasonable. Such insurance, however, contains exclusions and 
limitations on coverage. There can be no assurance that such insurance will continue to be available, will be 
available at economically acceptable premiums or will be adequate to cover any resulting liability. In some 
cases, coverage is not available or considered too expensive relative to the perceived risk. The Issuer may 
suffer a material adverse effect on its business if it incurs losses related to any significant events that are not 
covered sufficiently or at all by its insurance policies. 

The Issuer will require external financing to conduct further exploration on and development of its 
mineral resource properties. 

The continuing exploration and development of the Property will depend upon the Issuer's ability to obtain 
financing on reasonable terms. There is no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in obtaining the 
required financing. The failure to obtain such financing could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's 
results of operations and financial condition. 

Increased competition could adversely affect the Issuer's ability to attract necessary capital funding or 
acquire suitable prospects for mineral exploration in the future. 

The mining industry is intensely competitive. The Issuer will compete with other mining companies, many of 
which have greater financial resources for the acquisition of mineral claims, permits and concessions as well 
as for the recruitment and retention of qualified employees. As a result, the Issuer may be unable to acquire 
attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable. 

Title to the Issuer's mineral properties cannot be guaranteed and may be subject to prior unregistered 
agreements, transfers or claims and other defects. 

The Issuer cannot guarantee that title to its properties will not be challenged. Title insurance is generally not 
available for mineral properties and the Issuer's ability to ensure that it has obtained secure claim to individual 
mineral properties or mining concessions may be severely constrained. While the Issuer has investigated title 
to all of its mineral claims and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all such mineral properties is in good 
standing, the mineral properties may be subject to prior unregistered agreements, transfers or claims, and title 
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may be affected by, among other things, undetected defects. A successful challenge to the precise area and 
location of these claims could result in the Issuer being unable to operate on its properties as permitted or 
being unable to enforce its rights with respect to its properties. 

The Issuer has a history of losses and expects the Issuer to incur losses for the foreseeable future. 

The Issuer has incurred losses and the Issuer may continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. Further 
exploration and development of the Property will require the commitment of substantial financial resources. It 
may be several years before the Issuer will generate any revenues from operations, if at all. There can be no 
assurance that the Issuer will realize revenue or achieve profitability. 

The Issuer may experience difficulty attracting and retaining qualified management and personnel to 
meet the needs of its anticipated growth, and the failure to manage its growth effectively could have a 
material adverse effect on its business and financial condition. 

The Issuer will be dependent on the services of key executives including the Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer and other highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel focused on 
managing its interests, the advancement of the Property, as well as the identification of new opportunities for 
growth and funding. Due to the Issuer's small size, the loss of these persons or the Issuer's inability to attract 
and retain additional highly skilled employees required for the development of its activities may have a 
material adverse effect on the its business or future operations. 

There can be no assurance that an active trading market in the Issuer's securities will be established 
and sustained. 

The market price for the Issuer's securities could be subject to wide fluctuations. Factors such as commodity 
prices, government regulation, interest rates, share price movements of the Issuer's peer companies and 
competitors, as well as overall market movements, may have a significant impact on the market price of the 
securities of the Issuer. The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume 
fluctuations, particularly in the mining sector, which have often been unrelated to the operating performance 
of particular companies. 

Certain of the Issuer's directors are also directors, officers or shareholders of other companies that are 
engaged in the business of acquiring, developing and exploiting natural resource properties. 

Such associations may give rise to conflicts of interest from time to time. Such a conflict poses the risk that 
the Issuer may enter into a transaction on terms which place the Issuer in a worse position than if no conflict 
existed. The directors are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interest of 
the Issuer and to disclose any interest that they may have in any project or opportunity of the Issuer, however, 
each director has a similar obligations to other companies for which such director serves as an officer or 
director. 

If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict will disclose his 
or her interest and abstain from voting on such matter, in determining whether or not the Issuer will 
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participate in any project or opportunity, the board of directors will primarily consider the degree of risk to 
which the Issuer may be exposed and its financial position at that time. 

18.  PROMOTERS 

For the two years immediately preceding this Listing Statement, Ron Miles, Richard Haslinger, David 
Franklin, Paul Fong and Adam Kim are considered to be Promoters of the Issuer in the formation and 
organizing the CPC.  Ron Miles and Richard Haslinger continue to be promoters of the Issuer following 
completion of the Qualifying Transaction.  None of the foregoing has received, nor is expected to receive 
anything of value, including money, property, contracts, options or rights of any kind, directly or indirectly, 
from the Issuer, except as disclosed below or elsewhere in this Listing Statement. 

The foregoing principals hold the following number of voting securities of the Issuer: 

 
 
 
 

Name 

Number of Shares Beneficially 
Owned, Directly or Indirectly, or 

Over which Control of Direction is 
Exercised 

 
Percentage of Shares 

Outstanding Owned (1)
 

Ron Miles 350,000 7.76% 

Richard Haslinger 300,000 6.65% 

David Franklin 300,000 6.65% 

Paul Fong 350,000 7.76% 

Adam Kim 50,000 1.11% 

Notes: 

(1)  Percentages calculated on an undiluted basis based on 5,108,000 Issuer Shares issued and outstanding. 

19.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

There are no material pending legal proceedings to which the Issuer is or is likely to be a party of or which 
any of its properties are or are likely to be the subject. 

20.  INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

No material conflict of interest, either direct or indirect, is currently known to exist with respect to any 
proposed transaction, or any transaction consummated over the three years before the date of this Listing 
Statement, that has affected or will materially affect the Issuer. Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of 
the directors and officers of the Issuer also holding positions as directors or officers of other companies. 
Some of those individuals have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of 
assets, businesses and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may 
arise where the directors and officers of the Issuer will be in direct competition with the Issuer. 
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The directors and officers of the Issuer are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of 
directors and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosure by directors of conflicts of interest 
and the Issuer will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors' and officers' conflict of interest or in 
respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by such 
directors or officers in accordance with the BCBCA, as applicable, and they will govern themselves in respect 
thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligation imposed upon them by law. 

21.  AUDITOR, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR  

21.1. Auditor 

The auditor of the Issuer is Charlton & Company, Chartered Accountants, 555 Burrard St., Two Bentall 
Centre, Suite 1735, Vancouver, BC V7X 1M9. 

21.2. Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Issuer is Computershare Investor Services Inc., at its Vancouver office 
located at 2nd Floor, 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3B9. 

22.  MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The Issuer has not entered into any contracts material to investors in the Shares since incorporation other than 
contracts in the ordinary course of business, except the following: 

(i) the Option Agreement dated for reference April 8, 2014, and amended and restated April 25, 2014 
and June 26, 2014 among the Issuer, the Optionor and the Vendors (see “General Development of the 
Business – Option Agreement”); 

(ii) the Escrow Agreement dated October 27, 2011 between the Issuer, Computershare Investor Services 
Inc. and the shareholders (see “Escrowed Securities”); 

(iii) the IPO Agency Agreement dated for reference October 27, 2011 as amended January 2012 between 
the Issuer and the IPO Agent; and 

(iv) Stock Option Agreements for Incentive Stock Options dated June 29, 2012, between the Issuer and 
each of Ronald Miles, Richard Haslinger, David Franklin, Adam Kim, and Paul Fong, and a Stock 
Option Agreement for Charitable Options dated June 29, 2012 between the Issuer and the Canadian 
Cancer Society (see “Options to Purchase Securities”). 

(v) the Transfer Agent, Registrar and Dividend Disbursing Agent Agreement dated April 28, 2011 
between the Issuer and the Transfer Agent. 
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23.  INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

The following is a list of persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement 
made by a person or company named in this Listing Statement as having prepared or certified a part of that 
document or report described in the Listing Statement: 

(1) Charlton & Company, auditors of the Issuer;  

(2) Dr. Mathias Westphal, P.Geo. of White North West Consulting, geologist that prepared the Technical 
Report; and 

(3) David G. Mark, P.Geo., of Geotronics Consulting Inc., geologist that prepared the 2015 Technical 
Report. 

Except as disclosed herein, no person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement 
made by the person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing 
Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement 
currently holds, directly or indirectly, more than 1% of the Shares, or holds any property of the Issuer or of an 
Associate or Affiliate of the Issuer and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as 
director, senior officer or employee of the Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Issuer and no such 
person is a promoter of the Issuer or an Associate or Affiliate of the Issuer. 

As of the date of this filing statement, Charlton & Company has reported that they are independent in 
accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British 
Columbia. 

24.  OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the Issuer or 
its securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure 
of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

25.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Enclosed as Schedule “A” to this Listing Statement is a copy of the audited financial statements for the Issuer 
for the year ended July 31, 2014 and the unaudited interim financial statements for the nine months ended 
April 30, 2015. 

Enclosed as Schedule “B” to this Listing Statement is a copy of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of the Issuer as at and for the unaudited nine-month period ended April 30, 2015 and for the audited year 
ended July 31, 2014. 
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Additionally, the following audited financial statements, including auditor’s reports thereon, are available for 
viewing along with the Issuer’s other public disclosure documents under the Issuer’s profile at 
www.sedar.com, and are incorporated herein by reference: 

 (i) audited financial statements for the financial year ended July 31, 2013; and 

(ii) audited financial statements for the financial year ended July 31, 2012. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Blackeagle Development Corp. hereby applies 
for the listing of the above mentioned securities on CSE.  The foregoing contains full, true and plain 
disclosure of all material information relating to Blackeagle Development Corp. It contains no untrue 
statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in 
which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia 

This 9th day of September, 2015. 

 

Signed “Ron Miles”  Signed “Faisal Manji” 

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

   

  Signed “Goerge Nicholson” 

Promoter (if applicable)  Director 

   
 



 

BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. (FORMERLY SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP.) 
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Expressed in Canadian Dollars 

 

 

  



 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To: the Shareholders of 

 Blackeagle Development Corp. (formerly Symbio Capital Corp.) 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Blackeagle Development Corp. (formerly Symbio Capital Corp.), 

which comprise the statements of financial position as at July 31, 2014 and 2013 and the statements of comprehensive loss, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.  

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the company’s  internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Blackeagle 

Development Corp. (formerly Symbio Capital Corp.) as at July 31, 2014 and 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows 

for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of Matters 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company has 

incurred losses to date.  This condition, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicates the existence of a material 

uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.   

 

 

“Charlton & Company” 

 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, BC 

October 10, 2014 

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. (FORMERLY SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP.) 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Statements of Financial Position 
In Canadian Dollars 

 

 

  

July 31, 

2014 

$ 

 

July 31, 

2013 

$ 

    

Assets    

    
Current Assets    

    
Cash and cash equivalents  431,871 22,655 

Short-term investment, At prime – 1.75%, matured 

on May 2, 2014  - 526,600 

GST receivable   - 4,570 

  431,871 553,825 

Qualifying transaction (Note 10)  27,835 - 

    
    
    
TOTAL ASSETS  459,709 553,825 

    

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    

    
Current Liabilities    

    
Accounts payable   5,054 1,086 

Accrued liabilities   7,700 10,800 

  9,754 11,886 

    
Shareholders’ Equity    

    
Share capital (Note 5)  592,383 592,383 

Reserve  72,389 72,389 

Deficit  (214,820) (122,833) 

    
  449,952 541,939 

    
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  459,709 553,825 

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) and Qualifying transaction (Note 10) 

Subsequent event (Note 11) 

 

Approved On behalf of the Board 

on October 10, 2014: 

   

    

“Ron Miles”  “Richard Haslinger”  

Ron Miles - Director  Richard Haslinger - 

Director 
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BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. (FORMERLY SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP.) 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
In Canadian Dollars 

 

 

 July 31, July 31, 

  2014 2013 

 $ $ 

   

Expenses   

 Administrative fees 18,000 18,000 

 Bank Charges 74 63 

 Filing and transfer agent fees 25,239 13,916 

 GST expense 11,549 - 

 Office and Misc. 958 900 

 Professional fees 34,990 24,467 

 Rent (Note 8) 6,000 6,000 

 (96,810) (63,346) 

Other item   

Interest income 4,823 5,995 

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (91,987) (57,351) 

   

   

Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.03) (0.02) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 3,158,000 3,158,000 

 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. (FORMERLY SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP.) 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Statement of Cash Flows 
In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

   

 July 31, 

2014 

 July 31, 

2013 

       

Cash Flow provided by/(used in):     

     

Operating activities     

 Net loss for the year $ (91,987) $ (57,351) 

 Accrued interest income  -  (82) 

      

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:     

  GST receivable  4,570  670 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (2,132)  (8,953) 

  Due to a related party  -  (1,500) 

    (89,549)  (67,216) 

       

Investing activities     

Proceeds on short-term investment  526,600  600,000 

Purchase of short-term investment  -  (525,000) 

Qualifying transaction  (27,835)  - 

  498,765  75,000 

     

Financing activities     

 Issuance of common shares  -  - 

 Share issuance costs  -  - 

  -  - 

     

Change in cash position  409,216  7,784 

       

Cash, beginning of the year  22,655  14,871 

Cash, end of the year $ 431,871 $ 22,655 

       

Supplementary information    

 Cash paid for interest $ - $ - 

 Cash paid for income taxes $ - $ - 

 

There were no non-cash financing activities for the period ended July 31, 2014 and July 31, 2013. 

 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. (FORMERLY SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP.) 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Statements of Changes in Equity 
In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

  Number of Total 

  Outstanding Share Shareholders' 

  Shares Capital Reserve Deficit Equity 

   $ $ $ $ 

      

At July 31 , 2012 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(65,482) 

                      

599,290 

Net loss for the year -   -   -   

          

(57,351) 

                      

(57,351) 

At July 31, 2013 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(122,833) 

                      

541,939 

 

 

At July 31 , 2013 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(122,833) 

                      

541,939 

Net loss for the year -   -   -   

          

(91,987) 

                      

(91,987) 

At July 31, 2014 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(214,820) 

                      

449,952 



BLACKEAGLE DEVELOPMENT CORP. (FORMERLY SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP.) 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended July 31, 2014 
In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

Blackeagle Development Corp. (formerly Symbio Capital Corp.) (the “Company”) was incorporated 
under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on February 14, 2011 and was classified as a 
Capital Pool Company (“CPC”) as defined in the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) Policy 2.4 until 
August 6, 2014.  The Company has changed its name to Blackeagle Development Corp. on August 6, 
2014. The Company completed its Initial Public  Offering  (“IPO”)  on  April 30, 2012  and  its  
shares  commenced  trading  on  the  Exchange (“TSX-V”) as a capital pool company. On August 6, 
2014, the Company completed a “Qualifying Transaction” (“QT”) as defined in Policy 2.4 of the 
TSX-V (Note 10). The Company is in the exploration stage and is in the process of exploring mining 
properties in Canada. The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are 
located at 2922 Mt. Seymour Parkway, North Vancouver, British Columbia V7H 1E9. 

These financial statements have been prepared by management on a going concern basis which 
assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business for the foreseeable future.  At July 31, 2014, the Company had not yet achieved 
profitable operations and had accumulated losses of $214,820 since its inception, which may not be 
sufficient to sustain operations over the foreseeable future. The Company expects to incur further 
losses in the development of its business, all of which casts significant doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.  A number of alternatives including, but not limited to selling 
an interest in one or more of its properties or completing a financing, are being evaluated with the 
objective of funding ongoing activities and obtaining additional working capital.  The continuing 
operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to continue to raise adequate financing and 
to commence profitable operations in the future and repay its liabilities arising from normal business 
operations as they become due. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should 
the Company be unable to continue in existence. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Statement of Compliance 

These financial statements, including comparative figures, have been prepared using accounting 
policies in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 
reporting currency and are prepared in accordance with and using accounting policies in full 
compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  These financial statements are prepared on a historical cost 
basis except for certain financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), 
which are stated at their fair value.  The accounting policies have been applied consistently 
throughout the entire period presented in these financial statements, which include the following: 
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(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended July 31, 2014 
In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

a. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash in banks, unrestricted cash held in lawyer’s trust 
accounts for general purpose and all short-term investments that are highly liquid in nature, 
cashable, and have an original maturity date of three months or less.  As at July 31, 2014, there is 
$Nil  (2013 - $Nil) included as cash equivalents. 

b. Shared-based payments 

The Company may grant stock options to buy capital stock of the Company to directors, officers 
and employees from time to time.  The board of directors grant such options for periods of up to 
ten years, with vesting periods determined at its discretion and at prices equal to or greater than 
the closing market price on the day preceding the date the options were granted. 

The fair value of the options is measured at grant date, using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model, and is recognized over the period that the employees earn the options.  The fair value is 
recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The amount recognized as 
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options expected to vest. 

c. Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred income tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or 
the liability settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 
is recognized in income in the period that substantive enactment occurs. To the extent that the 
Company does not consider it more likely than not that a deferred income tax asset will be 
recovered, the deferred income tax assets is reduced.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on the same taxable entity. 

d. Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting 
period.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share 
except that the weighted average share outstanding are increased to include additional shares for 
the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive.  The number of additional shares 
is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the 
proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price 
during the reporting periods. 

The 1,350,000 common shares outstanding as of July 31, 2014 are contingently cancelable and 
will be excluded from the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

e. Financial instruments 

All financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value.  In subsequent periods, all financial 
instruments are measured based on the classification adopted for the financial instruments: held to 
maturity, loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, 
FVTPL liabilities or other liabilities.  

FVTPL assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in the fair 
value recognized in net income (loss) during the period. 

Held to maturity assets, loans and receivable, and other liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

Available for sale assets are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in fair value 
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), except for equity instruments without a quoted 
market price in active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which are 
measured at cost. 

The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

 Financial Instrument Classification 
 Cash and cash equivalents and  FVTPL 
 Short-term investment FVTPL 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities 

The Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of financial position 
consist of cash and cash equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents are measured at level 1 of the 
fair hierarchy.  There are three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the 
measurement date for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or models inputs that are 
observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both 
unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. 

f. Impairment 

i) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred income tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of other assets or group of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

f. Impairment (continued) 

i) Non-financial assets (continued) 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cost flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the assets.  Impairment losses are recognized in net income (loss). 

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exist.  An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no 
impairment loss has been recognized. 

ii) Financial assets 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is 
impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognized in net 
income (loss) and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  When a subsequent 
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through net income (loss). 

g. Comprehensive income (loss) 

Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from 
transactions, events and circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders and 
includes items that are not included in net profit.  Other comprehensive income consists of 
changes to unrealized gain and losses on available for sale financial assets, changes to unrealized 
gains and losses on the effective portion of cash flow hedges and changes to foreign currency 
translation adjustments of self-sustaining foreign operations during the period.  Comprehensive 
income measures net earnings for the period plus other comprehensive income.  Amounts 
reported as other comprehensive income are accumulated in a separate component of 
shareholders’ equity as Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.  To date there has not been 
any other comprehensive income. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

h. Deferred share issuance costs 

Costs related to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred share issuance costs.  Upon 
completion of the initial public offering on April 30, 2012, the costs were charged against capital 
stock. 

i. Business investigation costs 

All costs incurred to identify and evaluate assets or business acquisitions are expensed as 
incurred. 

j. Future changes in accounting policies 

The following standards have been issued but are not yet effective: 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  This new standard will be effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  The new standard is a partial replacement of IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the above standards on its financial 
performance and financial statements disclosures but expects that such impact will not be 
material. 

k. Critical accounting judgments and estimates 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual experience may differ from these estimates and 
assumptions. 

The effect of a change in accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in 
comprehensive income in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the 
period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.  

Information about critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements are discussed below: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

k. Critical accounting judgments and estimates (continued) 

Judgement 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to 
the Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. 
Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, after an 
expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the profit or loss in the period the 
new information becomes available.  

Title to mineral property interests 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to 
prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

Estimates 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for 
share-based payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, 
which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires 
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 
share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions 
and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in 
Note 5. 

4. CASH RESTRICTION 

The proceeds raised from the issuance of common shares may only be used to identify and evaluate 
assets or businesses for future investment, with the exception that not more than the lesser of 30% of 
the gross proceeds from the issuance of shares or $210,000 may be used to cover prescribed costs of 
issuing the common shares or administrative and general expenses of the Company.  These 
restrictions applied until completion of a Qualifying Transaction by the Company as defined under 
the TSX-V policy 2.4. A Qualifying Transaction was completed on August 6, 2014. 

5. CAPITAL STOCK 

a. Authorized: unlimited common shares without par value 
  unlimited preferred shares without par value 

b. Issued and Outstanding: 

There were no shares issued during the years ended July 31, 2014 and July 31, 2013. 
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5. CAPITAL STOCK (continued) 

c. Stock Options: 

The  Company has adopted an incentive stock option plan (the "Option Plan"), which provides 
that the Board of Directors of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in 
accordance with TSX-V requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and  consultants to 
the Company, non-transferable options to purchase common shares.  Included in the Option Plan 
are provisions that provide that the number of common shares reserved for issuance will not 
exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company and that the number of 
common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to options granted to all consultants will not 
exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding common shares within any 12-month period.  At the 
discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company, options granted under the Option Plan can 
have a maximum exercise term of 5 years from the date of grant or 10 years in the case of a 
Charitable Option.   

During the years ended July 31, 2014 and July 31, 2013, the Company did not grant any stock 
options.   

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity is as follows: 

 
Number of 

Options  
Weighted Average 

 Exercise Price 

Balance, July 31, 2012 280,000 $0.20 

   Granted - - 

Balance, July 31, 2013 and July 31, 2014 280,000 $0.20 

 

At July 31, 2014, a summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable are as follows: 

Grant Date 

Number of Options 
Outstanding & 

Exercisable 
Exercise 

Price Expiry date 

Remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

April 30, 2012 245,000 $0.20 April 30, 2017 2.75 
April 30, 2012 35,000 0.20 April 30, 2022 7.75 

Total 280,000 $0.20   

c. Warrants: 

d. A summary of the Company’s warrant activity is as follows: 

 
Number of 

Warrants  
Weighted Average 

 Exercise Price 

Balance, July 31, 2012 315,800 $0.20 

   Granted - $- 

Balance, July 31, 2013  315,800 $0.20 
   Expired (315,800) $0.20 

Balance, July 31, 2014 - $- 

At July 31, 2014, there were no warrants outstanding and exercisable.  
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6. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The 
Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity and cash and cash equivalents as 
capital.  The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to 
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The Company’s 
primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash 
resources to fund the identification and evaluation of potential acquisitions.  To secure the additional 
capital necessary to pursue these plans, the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through 
the issuance of equity or by securing strategic partners. Cash consists of cash held in trust, at a major 
Canadian chartered bank and is insured by the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation (CDIC).  The 
Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator other than the cash 
restriction disclosed in note 4. 

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities; the fair values of which are considered to approximate their carrying value due to 
their short-term maturities or ability of prompt liquidation. 

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are 
summarized below:  

Strategic and operational risks are risks that arise if the Company fail to identify opportunities and/or 
threats arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years.  
These strategic opportunities or threats arise from a range of factors which might include changing 
economic and political circumstances and regulatory developments and competitor actions.  The risk 
is mitigated by consideration of the potential opportunities and challenges which management is 
currently undertaking. 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. The Company is subject to normal industry credit risks. Therefore, 
the Company believes that there is minimal exposure to credit risk. 
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at July 31, 2014, the Company had cash and cash 
equivalents balances of $431,871 to settle current liabilities of $9,754.  All of the Company’s 
financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade 
terms. 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market risk.  The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial. 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company holds no financial instruments that are 
denominated in a currency other than Canadian dollar.  Cash and accrued liabilities are denominated 
in Canadian currency.  Therefore, the Company’s exposure to currency risk is minimal.  

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During the year ended July 30, 2014, rent of $6,000 (2013 - $6,000) incurred with President of the 
Company. 

All related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and have been measured at the 
agreed to amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related 
parties. 

9. INCOME TAXES 

The income taxes shown in the Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss differ from the amounts 
obtained by applying statutory rates to the loss before income taxes due to the following: 

 2014 2013 
   
Statutory tax rate 26.0% 25.0% 
   
Loss for the year $ (91,987) $ (57,351) 

   
Expected income tax recovery  (23,549)  (14,682) 
Increase (decrease) in income tax recovery resulting 
from: 

  

Items deductible and not deductible for income tax 
purposes  

           -  345 

Change in tax rates  (2,675)  - 
Current and prior tax attributes not recognized   26,224  14,337 

 $ - $ - 
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9. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

Details of deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 2014 2013 
   
Non-capital losses $ 69,056 $ 36,259 
Share issuance costs  14,860  21,433 

   
  83,916  57,692 
Less: Unrecognized deferred tax assets   (83,916)  (57,692) 

   
 $ - $ - 

 

The Company has approximately $266,000 of non-capital losses available, which begin to expire in 
2031 through to 2034 and may be applied against future taxable income. At July 31, 2014, the net 
amount which would give rise to a deferred income tax asset has not been recognized as it is not 
probable that such benefit will be utilized in the future years. 

 

10. QUALIFYING TRANSACTION  

The Company has entered into an option agreement (the "Option Agreement") dated April 8, 2014, as 
amended and restated April 25, 2014 and June 26, 2014, between the Company and Tajiri Resources 
Corp. ("Tajiri") and Donald Bragg, Peter Fox and Barry Price (collectively, the "Vendors"), pursuant 
to which Tajiri granted the Company an option to acquire a 70% interest in 40 mineral claims located 
in British Columbia known as the OGK Property (the "Property") subject to a 2% net smelter royalty 
("NSR") payable to the Vendors. 

The Company can earn a 70% interest in the Property by paying an aggregate of $100,000 in cash, 
issuing 1,000,000 shares and incurring $1,350,000 in work expenditures over three years as follows:  

* Paying $25,000 cash to Tajiri upon execution of the Option Agreement (paid in 2014 year end) 

* Issuing 140,000 shares to the Vendors and 60,000 to Tajiri within 5 days after Final Exchange 
Approval in connection with the QT (the "Closing") (issued in August 2014) 

* Incurring $250,000 in work expenditures within one year of Closing 

* Paying $35,000 cash to Tajiri and issuing 90,000 shares to Tajiri and 210,000 shares to the Vendors 
and incurring an additional $350,000 in work expenditures on the Property within 2 years of Closing 

* Paying $15,000 cash to Tajiri and $25,000 cash to the Vendors, issuing 150,000 shares to Tajiri and 
350,000 to the Vendors, and incurring an additional $750,000 in work expenditures within 3 years of 
Closing. 

A Finder's Fee of $4,000 cash and 400,000 shares were paid/issued to Ramtag Resources Ltd in 
connection with the transaction in August, 2014. 

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENT  

None other than those already disclosed in these financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To: the Shareholders of 

 Symbio Capital Corp. 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Symbio Capital Corp., which comprise the statements of financial 

position as at July 31, 2013 and 2012 and the statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the 

years then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the company’s  internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Symbio Capital Corp. 

as at July 31, 2013 and 2012 and its financial performance and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of Matters 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company has 

incurred losses to date.  This condition, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicates the existence of a material 

uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.   

 

 

“Charlton & Company” 

 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, BC 

August 15, 2013. 
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July 31, 

2013 

$ 

July 31, 

2012 

$ 

    

Assets    

    
Current Assets    

    
Cash and cash equivalents  22,655 14,871 

Short-term investment, At prime – 1.75% with a 

maturity date of May 2, 2014   526,600 601,518 

HST receivable   4,570 5,240 

    
    
    
TOTAL ASSETS  553,825 621,629 

    

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    

    
Current Liabilities    

    
Accounts payable   1,086 9,839 

Accrued liabilities   10,800 11,000 

Due to a related party (Note 8)  - 1,500 

  11,886 22,339 

    
    

    

Shareholders’ Equity    

    
Share capital (Note 5)  592,383 592,383 

Reserve  72,389 72,389 

Deficit  (122,833) (65,482) 

    
  541,939 599,290 

    
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  553,825 621,629 

 

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 

 

Approved On behalf of the Board 

on August 15, 2013: 

  

   

“Ron Miles”  “Richard Haslinger” 

Ron Miles - Director  Richard Haslinger - 

Director 
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 July 31, July 31, 

  2013 2012 

 $ $ 

   

Expenses   

 Administrative fees 18,000 4,500 

 Bank Charges 63 89 

 Donation (Note 5(c)) - 6,107 

 Filing and transfer agent fees 13,916 5,297 

 Office and Misc. 900 2,100 

 Professional fees 24,467 12,300 

 Rent (Note 8) 6,000 1,500 

 Stock based compensation (Note 5(c)) - 34,953 

 (63,346) (66,846) 

Other item   

Interest income 5,995 1,518 

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (57,351) (65,328) 

   

   

Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.02) (0.08) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 3,158,000 793,814 
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 July 31, 

2013 

 July 31, 

2012 

       

Cash Flow provided by/(used in):     

     

Operating activities     

 Net loss for the year $ (57,351) $ (65,328) 

 Donation  -  6,107 

 Stock based compensation  -  34,953 

 Accrued interest income  (82)  (1,518) 

      

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:     

  HST receivable  670  (4,008) 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (8,953)  6,339 

  Due to a related party  (1,500)  1,500 

    (67,216)  (21,955) 

       

Investing activities     

Proceeds on short-term investment  600,000  - 

Purchase of short-term investment  (525,000)  (600,000) 

  75,000  (600,000) 

     

Financing activities     

 Issuance of common shares  -  666,600 

 Share issuance costs  -  (98,494) 

  -  523,712 

     

Change in cash position  7,784  (53,849) 

       

Cash, beginning of the year  14,871  68,720 

Cash, end of the year $ 22,655 $ 14,871 

       

Supplementary information    

 Cash paid for interest $ - $ - 

 Cash paid for income taxes $ - $ - 

 

Non-cash financing activities for the period ended July 31, 2013 were as follow: 

a. None. 

Non-cash financing activities for the period ended July 31, 2012 were as follow: 

b. The company incurred brokers’ warrants of $31,329 towards share issue costs. 
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  Number of Total 

  Outstanding Share Shareholders' 

  Shares Capital Reserve Deficit Equity 

   $ $ $ $ 

      

At July 31 , 2011 1,000,000   100,000   -   

          

(154)   99,846 

Issuance of common shares at 

$0.10 350,000   35,000   -             -   35,000 

Issuance of common shares at 

$0.20 3,158,000   631,600   -             -   631,600 

Shares issuance costs -   (142,888)   -             -   (142,888) 

Brokers’ warrants -   (31,329)   31,329             -  - 

Fair values of stock options 

granted and donation -   -   41,060             -  41,060 

Net loss for the year -   -   -   

          

(65,328) 

                      

(65,328) 

At July 31, 2012 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(65,482) 

                      

599,290 

 

At July 31 , 2012 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(65,482) 

                      

599,290 

Net loss for the year -   -   -   

          

(57,351) 

                      

(57,351) 

At July 31, 2013 

                         

4,508,000  

                     

592,383  

                     

72,389  

          

(122,833) 

                      

541,939 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

Symbio Capital Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) on February 14, 2011 and is classified as a Capital Pool Company (“CPC”) as 
defined in the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) Policy 2.4.  The principal business of the Company 
is the identification and evaluation of assets or a business and once identified or evaluated, to 
negotiate an acquisition or participation in a business, subject to receipt of shareholder approval and 
acceptance by regulatory authorities, that will meet the definition of a “Qualifying Transaction” 
(“QT”) as defined in Policy 2.4 of the TSX-V. The head office, principal address and records office 
of the Company are located at 2922 Mt. Seymour Parkway, North Vancouver, British Columbia V7H 
1E9. 

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a 
going concern which assumes the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation. The 
Company’s continuing operations, as intended, are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and 
negotiate an acquisition of, a participation in or an interest in properties, assets or businesses which 
qualifies as QT. Such an acquisition will be subject to regulatory approval and may be subject to 
shareholder approval.  Should the Company be unable to complete such a transaction, its ability to 
raise sufficient financing to maintain operations may be impaired and accordingly, the Company may 
be unable to realize on the carrying value of its net assets.  These financial statements do not include 
any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in 
existence. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Statement of Compliance 

These financial statements, including comparative figures, have been prepared using accounting 
policies in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

The policies applied in these financial statements are presented in Note 3 and are based on IFRS 
issued and outstanding as of the date the Board of Directors approved the financial statements.  

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 15, 2013. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 
reporting currency and are prepared in accordance with and using accounting policies in full 
compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  These financial statements are prepared on a historical cost 
basis except for certain financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), 
which are stated at their fair value.  The accounting policies have been applied consistently 
throughout the entire period presented in these financial statements, which include the following: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

a. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash in banks, unrestricted cash held in lawyer’s trust 
accounts for general purpose and all short-term investments that are highly liquid in nature, 
cashable, and have an original maturity date of three months or less.  As at July 31, 2013, there is 
$Nil  (2012 - $Nil) included as cash equivalents. 

b. Shared-based payments 

The Company may grant stock options to buy capital stock of the Company to directors, officers 
and employees from time to time.  The board of directors grant such options for periods of up to 
ten years, with vesting periods determined at its discretion and at prices equal to or greater than 
the closing market price on the day preceding the date the options were granted. 

The fair value of the options is measured at grant date, using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model, and is recognized over the period that the employees earn the options.  The fair value is 
recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The amount recognized as 
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options expected to vest. 

c. Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred income tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or 
the liability settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 
is recognized in income in the period that substantive enactment occurs. To the extent that the 
Company does not consider it more likely than not that a deferred income tax asset will be 
recovered, the deferred income tax assets is reduced.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on the same taxable entity. 

d. Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting 
period.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share 
except that the weighted average share outstanding are increased to include additional shares for 
the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive.  The number of additional shares 
is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the 
proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price 
during the reporting periods. 

The 1,350,000 common shares outstanding as of July 31, 2013 are contingently cancelable and 
will be excluded from the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

e. Financial instruments 

All financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value.  In subsequent periods, all financial 
instruments are measured based on the classification adopted for the financial instruments: held to 
maturity, loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, 
FVTPL liabilities or other liabilities.  

FVTPL assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in the fair 
value recognized in net income (loss) during the period. 

Held to maturity assets, loans and receivable, and other liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

Available for sale assets are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in fair value 
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), except for equity instruments without a quoted 
market price in active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which are 
measured at cost. 

The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

 Financial Instrument Classification 
 Cash and cash equivalents and  FVTPL 
 Short-term investment 
 HST receivable Loans and receivable 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities 

The Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of financial position 
consist of cash and cash equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents are measured at level 1 of the 
fair hierarchy.  There are three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the 
measurement date for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or models inputs that are 
observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both 
unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. 

f. Impairment 

i) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred income tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of other assets or group of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

f. Impairment (continued) 

i) Non-financial assets (continued) 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cost flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the assets.  Impairment losses are recognized in net income (loss). 

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exist.  An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no 
impairment loss has been recognized. 

ii) Financial assets 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is 
impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognized in net 
income (loss) and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  When a subsequent 
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through net income (loss). 

g. Comprehensive income (loss) 

Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from 
transactions, events and circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders and 
includes items that are not included in net profit.  Other comprehensive income consists of 
changes to unrealized gain and losses on available for sale financial assets, changes to unrealized 
gains and losses on the effective portion of cash flow hedges and changes to foreign currency 
translation adjustments of self-sustaining foreign operations during the period.  Comprehensive 
income measures net earnings for the period plus other comprehensive income.  Amounts 
reported as other comprehensive income are accumulated in a separate component of 
shareholders’ equity as Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.  To date there has not been 
any other comprehensive income. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

h. Deferred share issuance costs 

Costs related to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred share issuance costs.  Upon 
completion of the initial public offering on April 30, 2012, the costs were charged against capital 
stock. 

i. Business investigation costs 

All costs incurred to identify and evaluate assets or business acquisitions are expensed as 
incurred. 

j. Future changes in accounting policies 

The following standards have been issued but are not yet effective: 

• IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement  - In May 2011, as a result of the convergence project 
undertaken by the IASB and the US Financial Accounting Standards Board to develop 
common requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair 
value measurements, the IASB issued IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement  (“IFRS 13”). IFRS 
13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
application permitted. 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  This new standard will be effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2015.  The new standard is a partial replacement of IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the above standards on its financial 
performance and financial statements disclosures but expects that such impact will not be 
material. 

k. Critical accounting judgments and estimates 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual experience may differ from these estimates and 
assumptions. 

The effect of a change in accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in 
comprehensive income in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the 
period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.  

Information about critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements are discussed below: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

k. Critical accounting judgments and estimates (continued) 

Judgement 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to 
the Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. 
Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, after an 
expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the profit or loss in the period the 
new information becomes available.  

Title to mineral property interests 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to 
prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

Estimates 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for 
share-based payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, 
which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires 
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 
share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions 
and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in 
Note 5. 

4. CASH RESTRICTION 

The proceeds raised from the issuance of common shares may only be used to identify and evaluate 
assets or businesses for future investment, with the exception that not more than the lesser of 30% of 
the gross proceeds from the issuance of shares or $210,000 may be used to cover prescribed costs of 
issuing the common shares or administrative and general expenses of the Company.  These 
restrictions apply until completion of a Qualifying Transaction by the Company as defined under the 
TSX-V policy 2.4. 

5. CAPITAL STOCK 

a. Authorized: unlimited common shares without par value 
  unlimited preferred shares without par value 

b. Issued and Outstanding: 

100 common shares were issued at $0.125 per common share on February 14, 2011 as 
incorporation shares, and subsequently were repurchased and cancelled by the Company.  

 



SYMBIO CAPITAL CORP. 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended July 31, 2013 
In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 

5. CAPITAL STOCK (continued) 

b. Issued and Outstanding:  (continued) 

During the period ended July 31, 2011, the Company issued 1,000,000 common shares at a price 
of $0.10 per common share for total proceeds of $100,000.  

During the year ended July 31, 2012, the Company issued 350,000 common shares at a price of 
$0.10 per common share for total proceed of $35,000. These founders’ shares of 1,350,000 are 
subject to a CPC Escrow Agreement. These common shares will be held in escrow and will be 
released pro-rata to the shareholders as to 10% of the escrow shares upon issuance of notice of 
final acceptance of a Qualifying Transaction by the TSX-V and as to the remainder in six equal 
tranches of 15% every six months thereafter for a period of 36 months. These escrow shares may 
not be transferred, assigned or otherwise dealt with without the consent of the regulatory 
authorities. If the Company does not receive final acceptance of a Qualifying Transaction and is 
delisted, the shares may be cancelled and proceeds returned to the shareholders. 

During the year ended July 31, 2012, the Company closed a prospectus on October 27, 2011 and 
an amended and restated prospectus on January 30, 2012 for an initial public offering (“IPO” or 
the “Offering”), pursuant to the policies of TSX-V governing CPCs, in British Columbia to sell 
3,158,000 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share for gross proceeds of $631,600.  The agent 
received a commission of $63,160, an administrative fee of $10,000 and the Agent’s legal fees.  
The Agent was granted non transferable option (“Agent’s Warrants”) to purchase 315,800 
common shares at an exercise price of $0.20 per common share with an expiry date of April 30, 
2014.  A value of $31,329 has been attributed to the Agent’s Warrants using an option pricing 
model and has been credited to reserve. The fair value of Agent’s Warrants was estimated based 
on the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using the following assumptions: average risk-free 
interest rate – 1.34% ; expected life – 2 year; expected volatility – 93%; forfeiture rate – 0%; and 
expected dividends – nil. Share issuance costs totalling $142,888 have been incurred towards the 
offering. 

c. Stock Options: 

The  Company has adopted an incentive stock option plan (the "Option Plan"), which provides 
that the Board of Directors of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in 
accordance with TSX-V requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and  consultants to 
the Company, non-transferable options to purchase common shares.  Included in the Option Plan 
are provisions that provide that the number of common shares reserved for issuance will not 
exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company and that the number of 
common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to options granted to all consultants will not 
exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding common shares within any 12-month period.  At the 
discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company, options granted under the Option Plan can 
have a maximum exercise term of 5 years from the date of grant or 10 years in the case of a 
Charitable Option.   

Concurrent with the closing of the Company's initial public offering during the year ended July 
31, 2012, the Company granted 245,000 stock options (the “Incentive Stock Options”), with an 
exercise price of $0.20 per common share, exercisable for a period of 5 years.   

The Company also granted 35,000 charitable stock options to the Canadian Cancer Society, with 
an exercise price of $0.20 per share, exercisable for a period of ten years. 
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5. CAPITAL STOCK (continued) 

c. Stock Options:  (continued) 

The Company recorded $34,953 to stock based compensation expense and $6,107 to donation 
expense as a result of options vested during the year ended July 31, 2012. The fair value of stock 
options was estimated at the grant date based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using 
the following assumptions: average risk-free interest rate – 1.60% - 2.04%; expected life – 5 year 
– 10 year; forfeiture rate – 0%; expected volatility – 93%; forfeiture rate – 0%;and expected 
dividends – nil. Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions 
including the expected price volatility. Changes in the subjective input assumptions may have a 
material effect on the fair value of the Company’s stock options. 

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity is as follows: 

 
Number of 

Options  
Weighted Average 

 Exercise Price 

Balance, July 31, 2011 - $- 

   Granted 280,000 $0.20 

Balance, July 31, 2012 and July 31, 2013 280,000 $0.20 

 

At July 31, 2013, a summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable are as follows: 

Grant Date 

Number of Options 
Outstanding & 

Exercisable 
Exercise 

Price Expiry date 

Remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

April 30, 2012 245,000 $0.20 April 30, 2017 3.75 
April 30, 2012 35,000 0.20 April 30, 2022 8.75 

Total 280,000 $0.20   

 

d. Warrants: 

A summary of the Company’s warrant activity is as follows: 

 
Number of 

Warrants  
Weighted Average 

 Exercise Price 

Balance, July 31, 2011 - $- 

   Granted 315,800 $0.20 

Balance, July 31, 2012 and July 31, 2013 315,800 $0.20 
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5. CAPITAL STOCK (continued) 

d. Warrants:  (continued) 

At July 31, 2013, a summary of warrants outstanding and exercisable are as follows: 

Grant Date 

Number of Options 
Outstanding & 

Exercisable 
Exercise 

Price Expiry date 

Remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

April 30, 2012 315,800 $0.20 April 30, 2014 0.75 

Total 315,800 $0.20   

 

6. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The 
Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity and cash and cash equivalents as 
capital.  The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to 
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The Company’s 
primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash 
resources to fund the identification and evaluation of potential acquisitions.  To secure the additional 
capital necessary to pursue these plans, the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through 
the issuance of equity or by securing strategic partners. Cash consists of cash held in trust, at a major 
Canadian chartered bank and is insured by the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation (CDIC).  The 
Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator other than the cash 
restriction disclosed in note 4. 

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities; the fair values of which are considered to approximate their carrying value due to 
their short-term maturities or ability of prompt liquidation. 

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are 
summarized below:  

Strategic and operational risks are risks that arise if the Company fail to identify opportunities and/or 
threats arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years.  
These strategic opportunities or threats arise from a range of factors which might include changing 
economic and political circumstances and regulatory developments and competitor actions.  The risk 
is mitigated by consideration of the potential opportunities and challenges which management is 
currently undertaking. 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. The Company is subject to normal industry credit risks. Therefore, 
the Company believes that there is minimal exposure to credit risk. 
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at July 31, 2013, the Company had cash and cash 
equivalents and short-term investment balances of $549,255 to settle current liabilities of $11,886.  
All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are 
subject to normal trade terms. 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market risk.  The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial. 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company holds no financial instruments that are 
denominated in a currency other than Canadian dollar.  Cash and accrued liabilities are denominated 
in Canadian currency.  Therefore, the Company’s exposure to currency risk is minimal.  

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

As at July 31, 2013, the Company owed $Nil (2012 - $1,500) to President of the Company. 

During the year ended July 30, 2013, rent of $6,000 (2012 - $1,500) incurred with President of the 
Company. 

All related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and have been measured at the 
agreed to amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related 
parties. 

9. INCOME TAXES 

The income taxes shown in the Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss differ from the amounts 
obtained by applying statutory rates to the loss before income taxes due to the following: 

 2013 2012 
   
Statutory tax rate 25.0% 25.6% 
   
Loss for the year $ (57,351) $ (65,328) 

   
Expected income tax recovery  (14,682)  (16,724) 
Increase (decrease) in income tax recovery resulting 
from: 

  

Items deductible and not deductible for income tax 
purposes  

        345  (26,897) 

Change in tax rates  -  304 
Current and prior tax attributes not recognized   14,337  43,317 

 $ - $ - 
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9. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

Details of deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 2013 2012 
   
Non-capital losses $ 36,259 $ 14,777 
Share issuance costs  21,433  28,578 

   
  57,692  43,355 
Less: Unrecognized deferred tax assets   (57,692)  (43,355) 

   
 $ - $ - 

 

The Company has approximately $145,000 of non-capital losses available, which begin to expire in 
2031 through to 2033 and may be applied against future taxable income. At July 31, 2013, the net 
amount which would give rise to a deferred income tax asset has not been recognized as it is not 
probable that such benefit will be utilized in the future years. 


